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Kaydon Corporation is diversified manufacturer of highly

engineered performance-critical custom products with

broad and diverse customer base Our market leading

proprietary product positions have enabled us to strengthen

our financial position while focusing on strategic invest

ments in secular long-term growth initiatives to enhance

shareholder value
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Year Ended

December 31 20091 December 31 20082

Net sales $441145000 $522374000

Cost of sales 297280000 330194000

Gross profit 143865000 192180000

Selling general and administrative expenses 72527000 86669000

Operating income 71338000 105511000

Interest expense 247000 9363000

Interest income 537000 4860000

Income before income taxes 71628000 101008000

Provision for income taxes 25672000 35945000

Net income 45956000 65063000

Weighted average common shares

outstanding diluted 33267000 33953000

Earnings per share diluted $1.37 $2.06

EBITDA non-GAAP $100878000 $132883000

Capital expenditures 11986000 60704000

2009 results include the after tax effect $4.9 million or $0.15 per share of the pre-tax

$7.6 million gains related to the curtailment of certain postretirement benefits

2008 results include the effects of the retrospective application of new accounting

guidance as more fully described in Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements

included in the Companys 2009 Form 10-K

reconciliation of GAAP to non-GAAP measures can be found in Exhibit 99.1 to

the Companys Form 8-K furnished February 25 2010 to the Securities and Exchange

Commission
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2009 was difficult year for the global economy and for

virtually all industrial manufacturersincluding Kaydon In

my letter to you in last years Annual Report noted that

we entered 2009 prepared to navigate what was expected

to be an extremely challenging business environment

As it turns out that extremely challenging business environment was in

fact the longest and most severe recession in generation The industrial

sector in particular was met with dramatic decreases in capacity utilization

and capital spending as our customers took aggressive action to remediate

the effects on their own businesses

With that as backdrop we devoted much of 2009 to mitigating the impact

of the recession while maintaining our market leading positions and strength

ening our customer relationships We executed on converting existing back

log while controlling and containing costs across the Company The actions

taken through this period mitigated some of the effects of this historically

challenging period More importantly however these actions position us to

realize maximumbenefit as business conditions improve

While we endured the worst recession in Kaydons history as public com

pany our revenue operating income and EBITDA all bottomed at levels well

in excess of the levels reached in prior recessionary periods Concurrently

margins have held at the levels attained in those periods despite significantly

higher pension cost associated with the decades poor stock market perfor

mance and historically low interest rates and depreciation from the largest

capital investment program in Kaydons history We believe this highlights

the operating leverage that the cost reduction and containment measures

implemented early and aggressively in this downturn will bring as business

improves While there is some consolation in having mitigated the effects of

this severe economic downturn be assured that we will not be satisfied with

anything less than return to the strong growth trajectory that Kaydon was

on prior to the onset of this unprecedented financial and economic period
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During this period Kaydon was one of the select companies in the industrial

sector to raise its dividend This is our third consecutive annual increase

reflecting managements and the Boards confidence in the cash generating

ability and long-term prospects of our businesses It also reflects our commit

ment to providing stable return to our shareholders

The actions taken over the past two years to preserve the value of our

Company and maximize its prospects going forward would not have been

possible without the loyalty hard work and sacrifice of our employees and

the support and confidence of our Board of Directors and fellow shareholders

would like to thank them and affirm our commitment and enthusiasm to

take full advantage of the opportunities ahead

James OLeary

Chairman President and

Chief Executive Officer

KAYDON CORPORATION 2009 ANNUAL REPORT



Finnc2eiformance

Our long-term financial strategy is based on maximizing free cash flow while

prudently managing our balance sheet to take full advantage of attractive

growth opportunities both internal and external while selectively returning

capital to our shareholders through opportunistic share repurchases and

dividends Our strong balance sheet and high cash flow from operating

activities provide us with significant financial flexibility
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Chart illustrates the strong financial performance of the past ten years

In 2009 our sales totaled $441.1 million despite the challenging recessionary

conditions

The charts presented in this section of this Annual Report are

based on the continuing operations of Kaydon and reflect the retro

spective application of required accounting guidance In addition
certain supplemental financial measures provided are not presented in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles GAAP
We believe that certain non -GAAP data is useful to gain additional

insight into pertinent performance and liquidity measures of the

Company
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EBITDA
In Millions of Dollars

Chart illustrates an important measure of the strong cash generating

capabilities of Kaydon Our EBITDA defined by the Company as earnings

before interest taxes depreciation amortization and non-cash stock-based

compensation expense is supplemental non-GAAP measure and exceeded

$100 million for the fourth consecutive year despite this historically challeng

ing period
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EBITDA Margin
In Percent

EBITIDA as percentage of net sales EBITDA margin non-GAAP measure

is another important measure of our strong cash generating abilities As shown

in Chart our EBITDA margins have consistently exceeded 20 percent

since the last recession including during the low point of this most recent

downturn
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Operating Income Margin
In Percent

Kaydon has achieved strong operating income margins over the past ten

years as shown in Chart Even in the most recent severe industrial

recession operating income margin equaled 16.2 percent
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Diluted Earnings Per Share
In Dollars

As illustrated in Chart Diluted Earnings Per Share totaled $1.37 for 2009

reflecting the impact of the severe worldwide industrial recession The strong

performance of the wind energy business and actions taken over the past two

years in response to recessionary conditions yielded higher diluted earnings

per share than in the low point of the last recession
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Net Cash From Operating Activities
In Millions of Dollars

Kaydon has consistently shown strong cash generating abilities as shown

in Chart The generation of net cash from operating activities has allowed

us to fund acquisitions significantly expand our manufacturing capabilities

repurchase common stock and increase our dividend
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In 2009 we completed our wind energy capacity expansion program

This $80 million investment was the largest in the Companys history In

2009 capital expenditures declined significantly with the completed wind

expansion and our generally reduced capital spending in response to business

conditions as shown in Chart
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FORM 10-K
United States

Securities and Exchange Commission

Washington DC 20549

Annual report pursuant to Section 13 or 15d of the Securities
Exchaifge Sr

For the fiscal
year

ended December 31 2009

Commission file number 1-11333 APR 122010

Kaydon Corporation
Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter

Delaware 13-3 186040

State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization I.R.S Employer Identification No

Suite 300 315 East Eisenhower Parkway Ann Arbor Michigan 48108

Address of principal executive offices Zip Code

Registrants telephone number including area code 734 747-7025

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12b of the Exchange Act

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registered

Common Stock Par Value $0.10 per Share New York Stock Exchange Inc

Preferred Stock Purchase Rights New York Stock Exchange Inc

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12g of the Exchange Act None

Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is well-known seasoned issuer as defined in Rule 405 under the

Securities Act of 1933 Yes E1 No

Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15d of

the Exchange Act Yes No l1

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15d
of the Exchange Act during the preceding 12 months or for such shOrter period that the Registrant was required to

file such reports and has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days Yes Ll No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site if

any every
Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T

232.405 of this chapter during the preceding 12 months or for such shorter period that the registrant was required

to submit and post such files Yes No

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained

herein and will not be contained to theY best of Registrants knowledge in definitive proxy or information statements

incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K t2

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is large accelerated filer an accelerated filer non-accelerated

filer or smaller reporting company See the definitions of large accelerated filer accelerated filer and smaller

reporting company in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act Check one

Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer Non-accelerated filer Smaller reporting company

Do not check if smaller

reporting company

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is shell company as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange

Act Yes No

The aggregate market value of the Registrants Common Stock held by non-affiliates of the Registrant on July 2009

based on the July 2009 closing sales price of $31.87 of the Registrants Common Stock as reported by the New York

Stock Exchange on such date was approximately $1055000000 For purposes of this calculation only all executive

officers and directors of the Registrant are assumed to be affiliates

Number of shares outstanding of the Registrants Common Stock at February 23 2010

33536473 Shares of Common Stock par value $0.10 per share

Portions of the Registrants definitive Proxy Statement to be filed for its 2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders are

incorporated by reference into Part III of this Report
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This Form 10.-K contains forward-looking state

ments within the meaning of the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934 regarding the Companys plans expecta

tions estimates and beliefs Forward-looking state

ments are typically identified by words such as

believes anticipates estimates expects

intends vill mayshould could potential

projects approximately and other similar expres

sions including statements regarding pending litigation

general economic conditions competitive dynamics and

the adequacy of capital resources These forward-look

ing statements may include among other things pro

jections of the Companys financial performance

anticipated growth and expansion characterization of

and the Companys ability to control contingent liabili

ties and anticipated trends in the Companys busi

nesses These statements are only predictions based on

the Companys current expectation about future events

Although the Company believes the expectations

reflected in the forward-looking statements are reason

able it cannot guarantee future results performance or

achievements or that predictions or current
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expectations will be accurate These forward-looking

statements involve risks and uncertainties that could

cause the Companys actual results performance or

achievements to differ materially from those expressed

or implied by the forward-looking statements

In addition the Company or persons acting on

its behalf may from time to time publish or communi

cate other items that could also be construed to be

forward-looking statements Statements of this sort

are or will be based on the Companys estimates

assumptions and projections and are subject to risks

and uncertainties that could cause actual results to

differ materially from those included in the forward-

looking statements Kaydon does not undertake any

responsibility to update its forward-looking statements

or risk factors to reflect future events or circum

stances except to the extent required by applicable

law For specific discussion of the risks and uncer

tainties that could affect the Companys financial

condition and/or operating results please refer to

Item Risk Factors herein
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PART

ITEM BUSINESS

General Development of Business

Kaydon Corporation the Company or Kay-

don is leading designer and manufacturer of

custom engineered performance-critical products sup

plying broad and diverse customer base At the time

of its 1983 incorporation Kaydon was principally

involved in the design and manufacture of bearings

and components as well as filters and filter housings

Since 1984 we have pursued diversified growth

strategy in the manufacturing sector Our principal

products now include bearings and components filters

and filter housings custom rings shaft seals linear

deceleration products specialty balls fuel cleansing

systems gas-phase air filtration systems and replace

ment media industrial presses and metal alloy prod

ucts These products are used by customers in

variety of alternative energy robotics medical mate

rial handling machine tool positioning aerospace

defense security electronic and other industrial appli

cations We perform as an extension of our customers

engineering and manufacturing functions with com
mitment to identify and provide engineered solutions

to design problems through technical innovation cost-

effective manufacturing and outstanding value-added

service

We have gyown both organically through strate

gic investments in our business and through acquisi

tions In 2007 we acquired all of the outstanding

stock of Avon Bearings Corporation Avon in

cash transaction valued at $54.4 million net of work

ing capital adjustments recorded in 2008 Avon is

custom designer and manufacturer of high precision

large diameter turntable bearings Avon also remanu

factures bearings and sells replacement bearings

Avon is included in the Friction Control Products

segment for segment reporting purposes

In support of our wind energy growth initia

tive during the first half of 2009 we completed our

wind energy capacity expansion program This

expansion provides us with significantly increased

capability to supply specialty bearings to wind tur

bine manufacturers and will help us maintain our

leadership position in the supply of specialty bear

ings We invested approximately $80 million from

2006 through the completion of this program in

2009 Annual sales to wind energy customers

which are recorded in the Friction Control Products

segment were $103.0 million $80.5 million and

$32.9 million in 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Industry Segments

We operate through operating segments for

which separate financial information is available

and for which operating results are evaluated regu

larly by the Companys chief operating decision

maker in determining resource allocation and

assessing performance Certain of the operating

segments have similar economic characteristics as

well as other common attributes including nature

of the products and production processes distribu

tion patterns and classes of customers We aggre

gate these operating segments for reporting

purposes Certain other operating segments do not

exhibit the common attributes mentioned above

and therefore information about them is reported

separately Still other operating segments do not

meet the quantitative thresholds for separate disclo

sure and their information is combined and disclosed

as Other businesses

We have three reportable segments and other

operating segments engaged in the manufacture

and sale of the following

Friction Control Products complex compo

nents used in alternative energy specialized robot

ics medical aerospace defense security electronic

material handling construction and other industrial

applications Products include anti-friction bearings

split roller bearings and specialty balls

Velocity Control Products complex compo
nents used in specialized robotics material han

dling machine tool medical amusement and other

industrial applications Products include industrial

shock absorbers safety shock absorbers velocity

controls gas springs and rotary dampers

Sealing Products complex and standard ring

and seal products used in demanding industrial

aerospace and defense applications Products

include engine rings sealing rings and shaft seals

Other businesses filter elements and liquid

and gas-phase filtration systems metal alloys

machine tool components presses dies and benders

used in variety of industrial applications

KAYDON CORPORALIUN FORvI 10K



Net sales related to our three reportable seg
ments and other operating segments during 2009
2008 and 2007 are set forth in the following table

2009 2008 2007

In thousands

Friction Control Products $296420 $325951 $261652

Velocity Control Products 46358 69616 63912

Sealing Products 37832 44985 46687

Other businesses 60535 81822 79131

Total consolidated net sales $441145 $522374 $451382

See the Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements Note 11 contained in Item Finan

cial Statements and Supplementary Data for addi

tional information on the Companys reportable

segments

Sophisticated industrial technology plays sig

nificant role in all of our reportable segments in the

design engineering and manufacturing of our prod

ucts Due to the custom engineered proprietary

nature of our products critical manufacturing is

done in-house and subcontractors are utilized for

occasional specialized services Products are manu
factured utilizing variety of precision metalwork

ing and other process technologies often after

working closely with customers to engineer the

required solution to their design and performance

challenges

We sell our products in each reportable seg
ment through sales organization consisting of

salespersons and representatives located primarily

throughout North America Europe and Asia Sales-

persons are trained to provide technical assistance

to customers as well as to serve as liaison

between our factory engineering staffs and our

customers Also global network of specialized

distributors and agents provides local availability of

our products to serve the requirements of custom

ers In 2009 and 2008 several of our operating

units had sales to various business units of the

General Electric Company and its affiliates GE
totaling in aggregate approximately 19.2 percent

and 12.5 percent of total sales respectively No

other customer acºounted for 10 percent or more of

our total sales in fiscal 2009 2008 or 2007 While

the loss of any substantial customer including GE
could have material short-term impact on our

business we believe that our diverse client base and

diverse product offerings should reduce the long-

term impact of any such loss

We do not consider our business in any report

able segment to be seasonal in nature or to have

special working capital requirements Compliance

with federal state and local regulations relating to

the discharge of materials into the environment or

otherwise relating to the protection of the environ

ment is not expected to result in material capital

expenditures by us or to have material adverse

effect on our earnings or competitive position In

general raw materials required by the Company are

attainable from various sources and in the quanti

ties desired Various provisions of federal law and

regulations require under certain circumstances

the renegotiations of military procurement contracts

or the refund of profits determined to be excessive

The Company based on experience believes that no

material renegotiations or refunds will be required

under its contracts related to military procurement

Other than the wind energy capacity expansion

completed in 2009 we have not made any other

public announcement of or otherwise made public

information about new product or new industry

segment which would require the investment of

material amount of our assets or which would

otherwise result in material cost

Backlog

We sell certain products on build-to-order

basis that require substantial order lead-time This

results in backlog of unshipped scheduled orders

In addition certain products are manufactured on

the basis of sales projections or annual blanket

purchase orders The Company defines backlog as

orders shippable in the upcoming 18 months

Variability in backlog is affected by the timing

of orders received particularly when larger custom

ers pull forward or push out major orders Backlog

by reporting segment at December 31 2009 and

2008 is presented below

December 31 December 31
2009 2008

Friction Control Products $179079000 $272434000

Velocity Control Products 7213000 6133000

Sealing Products 21717000 23834000

Other businesses 10516000 10170000

Total $218525000 $312571000

Patents and Trademarks

We hold various patents patent applications

licenses trademarks and trade names We consider

patents patent applications licenses trademarks
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and trade names to be valuable but do not believe

that there is any reasonable likelihood of loss of

such rights which would have material adverse

effect on our present business as whole

Competition

The major domestic and foreign markets for

our products in all reporting segments are highly

competitive Competition is based primarily on price

product engineering and performance technology

quality and overall customer service with the rela

tive importance of such factors varying by degree

among products Our competitors include large

number of other well-established diversified manu

facturers as well as other smaller companies

Although number of companies of varying size

compete with us no single competitor is in substan

tial competition with the Company with respect to

more than few of its product lines and services

Employees

We employ approximately 2084 people Satis

factory relationships have generally prevailed

between the Company and its employees

International Operations

Certain friction control products are manufac

tured in Mexico and the United Kingdom and

certain velocity control products are assembled and

distributed through facility in Germany In addi

tion within all reporting segments we distribute an

array of products principally throughout North

America Europe and Asia Our foreign operations

are subject to political monetary economic and

other risks attendant generally to international

businesses These risks generally vary from country

to country

See the Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements Note 11 contained in Item Finan

cial Statements and Supplementary Data for addi

tional information on the Companys operations by

geographic area

Available Information

Our internet address is www.kaydon.com

Our annual reports on Form 10-K quarterly reports

on Form 10-Q current reports on Form 8-K proxy

statements and amendments to all such reports and

statements are accessible at no charge on our

website as soon as reasonably practicable after

filing with the Securities and Exchange Commis

sion Also accessible on our website under Corpo

rate Governance are our Corporate Governance

Guidelines our Codes of Ethics and the charters of

the various committees of our Board of Directors

These items are also available in print at no charge

to those who direct request in writing to the

Company We do not intend for the information

contained on our website to be part of this Annual

Report

ITEM 1A RISK FACTORS

The following risk factors could affect our

financial condition and or operating results

Our customers economic cycles may affect our

operating results

Many of our customers are in industries that

are cyclical in nature and sensitive to changes in

general economic conditions and other factors

including capital spending levels Such industries

include commercial aerospace specialty electronics

manufacturing equipment power generation off-

road and heavy.industrial equipment and other

capital equipment manufacturing As result the

demand for our products by these customers

depends in part upon general economic conditions

Historically downward economic cycles have

reduced customer demand for our products thereby

reducing sales of our products and resulting in

reductions to our revenues and net earnings In

addition our military sales are dependent on gov

ernment funding Business conditions worldwide

worsened in late 2008 and stabilized at lower activ

ity levels in 2009 The timing and sustainability of

worldwide economic growth in 2010 is uncertain

and if economic conditions do not remain at current

levels or if conditions deteriorate our results of

operations could be adversely affected

Increased competition in our key markets could

result in reduction in our revenues and earnings

and adversely affect our financial condition

The industries in which we operate are frag

mented and we face competition from multiple com

panies across our various product lines We expect

competitive pressures from new products and

aggressive pricing to increase which may cause us

to lose market share or compel us to reduce prices

to remain competitive which could result in reduced

levels of revenues and earnings Our competitors

include U.S and non-U.S companies some of

which benefit from lower labor costs and fewer

KAYDON CORPORATION FORM 10K



regulatory burdens In addition certain competitors

including Eaton Timken SKF INA/FAG and ITT

are larger than Kaydon and may have access to

greater financial technical development market

ing manufacturing sales and distribution services

and other resources Increased competition with

these companies or new entrants to our key mar
kets could prevent price increases for our products

or could require price reductions for our products

which could adversely affect our financial condition

results of operations growth or liquidity

Future acquisitions may require us to incur costs

and liabilities or have other unexpected conse

quences which may adversely affect our operating

results

In addition to internal growth our current

strategy involves growth through acquisitions of

complementary businesses as well as acquisitions

that would diversify our product offerings Like

other companies with similar growth strategies we

may be unable to continue to implement our growth

strategy and this strategy may be ultimately

unsuccessful portion of our expected future

growth in revenues may result from acquisitions

We frequently engage in evaluations of potential

acquisitions and negotiations for possible acquisi

tions certain of which if consummated could be

significant to us Although it is our policy only to

acquire companies in transactions which will be

accretive to both earnings and cash flow any poten

tial acquisitions may result in material transaction

expenses increased interest and amortization

expense increased depreciation expense and

increased operating expense any of which could

have material adverse effect on our operating

results Acquisitions may entail integration and

management of the acquired businesses to realize

economies of scale and control costs In addition

acquisitions may involve other risks including diver

sion of management resources otherwise available

for ongoing development of our business and risks

associated with entering new markets We may not

be able to identify suitable acquisition candidates in

the future obtain acceptable financing or consum

mate any future acquisitions Finally as result of

our acquisitions of other businesses we may be

subject to the risk of unanticipated business uncer

tainties or legal liabilities relating to those acquired

businesses for which the sellers of the acquired

businesses may not indemnify us Future acquisi

tions may also result in potentially dilutive issu

ances of securities

Political economic and regulatory conditions

inherent in the international markets in which we

participate could adversely affect our financial

condition

Typically sales of our products from our for

eign subsidiaries and from our domestic businesses

selling to foreign locations account for approxi

mately 30-40 percent of net sales These foreign

sales could be adversely affected by changes in

various foreign countries political and economic

conditions trade protection measures differing

intellectual property rights and changes in regula

tory requirements that restrict the sales of our

products or increase our costs

We generate significant revenues outside the

United States Currency fluctuations between the

U.S dollar and the currencies in which our current

customers do business may have an impact on the

demand for our products in foreign countries where

the U.S dollar has increased in value compared to

the local currency We cannot predict the effects of

exchange rate fluctuations upon our future operat

ing results because of the number of currencies

involved the variability of currency exposure and

the potential volatility of currency exchange rates

Relationships with customers and effective

terms of sale frequently vary by country often with

longer-term receivables than are typical in the

United States

Our critical performance products expose us to

potential litigation-related costs which may
adversely affect our financial position and operat

ing results

As provider of critical performance products

in variety of industries including alternative

energy aerospace defense robotics medical mate

rial handling machine tool positioning and other

industrial applications we face risk of exposure to

claims in the event that the failure use or misuse

of our products results or is alleged to result in

bodily injury and/or property damage

In the past costs related to legal proceedings

and settlements have had material effect on our

business financial condition results of operations

and liquidity We cannot assure you that the ulti

mate cost of current known or future unknown

litigation and claims will not exceed managements
current expectations and it is possible that such

costs could have material adverse effect on the

Company In addition litigation is time consuming
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and could divert management attention and

resources away from our business

Our capacity expansion to supply custom bearings

to select group of global customers in the wind

energy market may adversely affect our financial

position and operating results

We have invested approximately $80 million to

expand our capacity to supply custom bearings to

the wind energy market We face risk of
exposure

to sales and earnings volatility if this growing

industry is affected by conditions in the capital

markets attracts new competition loses certain

governmental incentives or matures more rapidly

than currently anticipated

The condition of the financial markets may impact

the timing and extent that wind energy market

customers proceed with planned projects and if

financial markets do not improve or improve too

slowly our financial position and operating

results may be adversely affected

We have completed our capacity expansion

project to supply custom bearings to the wind

ITEM PROPERTIES

energy market In addition to the significant capital

assets acquired we currently have substantial

accounts receivable and inventory balances related

to certain wind energy customers With respect to

the wind energy market while the near term has

been impacted by issues associated with credit and

financing availability recent steps taken to repair

the health of the financial markets should eventu

ally improve visibility and end user confidence to

proceed with previously planned projects If how

ever the financial markets do not improve or they

improve too slowly the impact this may have on

our customers may adversely affect our financial

position and operating results bankruptcy filing

by significant wind energy customer may result in

uncollectible accounts receivable and unusable

inventory as well as reduced utilization of our large

diameter bearing manufacturing facilities

ITEIII LB UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None

The following list sets forth the location of our principal manufacturing facilities for each reportable

segment

Avon OH
Dexter MI

Mocksville NC
Muskegon MI

Sumter SC sites

Kings Lynn United Kingdom

Monterrey Mexico sites

Farmington Hills MI

Langenfeld Germany

Crawfordsville IN

Danville IL

Doraville GA
LaGrange GA sites

Sayreville NJ

Reportable Segment Location

Friction Control Products

Velocity Control Products

Other businesses

Sealing Products Baltimore MD
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We consider our properties to generally be in

good condition well maintained and suitable and

adequate to carry on our business Except for leased

facilities in Monterrey Mexico site and

LaGrange GA site substantially all of the

properties are owned by us None of our properties

are subject to significant encumbrances Our manu

facturing facilities currently have sufficient capacity

to meet customer demand Our leased executive

offices are located in Ann Arbor MI

ITEM LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Various claims arising in the normal course of

business are pending against us Our estimated

legal costs expected to be incurred in connection

with claims lawsuits and environmental matters are

accrued in the consolidated financial statements

contained in Item Financial Statements and Sup

plementary Data

ITEM SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO VOTE
OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to vote of secu

rity holders during the fourth quarter of the year

covered by this report
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SUPPLEMENTARY ITEM EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

Pursuant to Instruction 10 Item 401 of Regulation S-KY

The following are the executive officers of Kaydon Corporation as of December 31 2009

Name and Age of Data Pertaining to

Executive Officer Executive Officers

James OLeary 47 Chairman of the Board President and Chief Executive Officer Mr OLeary joined Kaydon in

March 2007 as President and Chief Executive Officer He was elected Chairman of the Board

in May 2007 Prior to joining Kaydon he was Executive Vice President and Chief Financial

Officer of Beazer Homes USA Inc since August 2003 having joined Beazer Homes in June

2002 Mr OLeary was previously with U.S Industries Inc from 1995 until 2002 He has been

Director of Kaydon since March 2005

Anthony Behrman 46 Vice President Human Resources Mr Behrman joined Kaydon in December 2007 Prior to

joining Kaydon he held variety of human resources positions at companies including

BorgWarner which he joined in 2001 Thomson Consumer Electronics GTE and General

Dynamics

Donald Buzinlcai 40 Vice President Controller and Chief Accounting Officer Mr Buzinkai joined Kaydon in June

2009 Prior to joining Kaydon he was Vice President Controller and Principal Accounting

Officer of Alpharma Inc from 2007 to 2009 Prior to joining Alpharma Inc Mr Buzinkai held

variety of accounting financial and human resources positions at Ingersoll Rand Company

and Sony Electronics Incorporated

Debra Crane 54 Vice President General Counsel and Secretary Ms Crane joined Kaydon in January 2008

Prior to joining Kaydon she was Senior Counsel for Parker-Hannifin Corporation from 2006 to

2007 From 2003 to 2006 Ms Crane was with Novehs Corporation

Peter DeChants 57 Senior Vice President Chief Financial Officer since January 2009 From May 2007 to January

2009 Mr DeChants held the position of Senior Vice President Corporate Development and

Strategy and Treasurer Mr DeChants was previously Vice President Corporate Development

and Treasurer since joining Kaydon in September 2002 Prior to joining Kaydon he was the

Vice President of Corporate Development and Strategic Planning of Metaldyne Corporation and

its predecessor MascoTech Inc and Vice President and Treasurer of TriMas Corporation

Executive officers who are elected by the Board of Directors serve for term of one year
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PART II

ITEM MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COM
MON EQUITY RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information and Dividends

The New York Stock Exchange is the principal

market on which our common stock is traded under

the symbol KDN As of December 31 2009
there were 629 holders of record of our common
stock

The following table sets forth the high and low

closing sales prices of our common stock and the

cash dividends declared per share for the periods

indicated

2009 by Quarter 2008 by Quarter

Market Price Market Price Dividends Market Price Market Price Dividends

High Low Declared High Low Declared

Fourth $38.31 $31.03 $0.18 $45.22 $21.21 $0.17

Third 36.72 29.70 0.18 59.00 47.09 0.17

Second 36.77 27.20 0.17 61.11 4320 015

First 35.70 23.19 0.17 53.71 38.99 0.15

We expect that our practice of paying quarterly Equity Compensation Plan Information

dividends on our common stock will continue

although future dividends will continue to depend The following table gives information about

upon our earnings capital requirements financial our common stock that may be issued upon the

condition and other factors exercise of options warrants and rights under all of

our existing equity compensation plans as of
There were no purchases made by the Com-

December 31 2009 including the 1999 Long Term
pany of shares of its common stock during any

Stock Incentive Plan the 2003 Non-Employee
month in the fourth quarter of 2009

Directors Equity Plan and the Director Deferred

Compensation Plan

Number of securities

remaining available

Number of securities for future issuauce

to be issued upon Weighted-average under equity

exercise of exercise price of compensation plans

outstanding outstanding options excluding securities

options warrants and warrants and reflected

rights rights in column

Equity compensation plans approved by shareholders 549750 $38.67 2634647

Equity compensation plans not approved by shareholders2 19429 N/A N/A

Total 569179 2634647

Includes only options outstanding under Kaydons 1999 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan and the 2003 Non-Employee Directors

Equity Plan as no warrants or rights were outstanding as of December 31 2009

Includes shares of Kaydon common stock pursuant to phantom stock units outstanding under Kaydons Director Deferred Compen
sation Plan adopted by the Board of Directors effective January 2001 This Plan is the only equity plan that has not been

approved by shareholders and provides vehicle for Director to defer compensation and acquire Kaydon common stock The

amount shown in column above assumes these Directors elect to receive their deferred compensation in shares of Kaydon com
mon stock The number of shares reserved for issuance under this Plan is not limited in amount other than by the dollar value of

the non-employee Directors annual compensation

Includes shares available for issuance under Kaydons 1999 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan which allows for the granting of stock

options stock appreciation rights and for awards of restricted stock restricted stock onits and stock-based performance awards to

employees of and consultants to the Company and shares available for issuance under the 2003 Non-Employee Directors Equity

Plan which allows for the granting of stock options and for awards of restricted stock
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Stock Performance Graph

--Kaydon Corporation

Standard Poors 500

Diversified Manufacturing

$106.43

$104.91

The following graph compares the cumulative five-year shareholder returns on our common stock to

the Standard Poors 500 SP 500 Stock Composite Index for the broad equity index and the Value

Line Diversified Manufacturing Index as an industry standard for the five-year period commencing

January 2005 and ending December 31 2009 assuming an investment of $100.00 at the close of trading

on December 31 2004 in our common stock the SP 500 Stock Composite Index and the Value Line

Diversified Manufacturing Index published by Value Line mc The cumulative total return assumes

reinvestment of dividends

$200

$100

$0

2004

$98.93
102.09

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

2004 2005 2006 2007

Kaydon Corporation $100.00 98.93 $123.89 $171.96 $109.96 $116.95

Standard Poors 500 $100.00 $104.91 $121.48 $128.15 80.73 $102.09

Diversified Manufacturing $100.00 $106.43 $133.46 $153.71 91.76 $118.73

2008 2009
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ITEM SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

In thousands except per share data

Income Statement

Net Sales $441145 $522374 $451382 $403992 $354558

Gross Profit 143865 192180 184300 167426 139030

Income From Continuing Operations2 459561 65063 72808 65004 42391

Net Income2 459561 65063 72808 $65004 69750

Balance Sheet

Total Assets $787944 $789782 $786565 $737556 $670587

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Short-term Investments 262403 232998 286993 370789 320804

Total Debt2 196860 189201 182226

Cash Flow Data

Net Cash From Operating Activities 66181 57900 74259 89860 41224

Capital Expenditures 11986 60704 54244 26930 12785

Depreciation and Amortization of Intangible Assets 24119 21645 15002 14312 13831

Per Share Data

Earnings per Share From Continuing Operations Diluted3 1.371 2.06 2.15 1.50

Dividends Declared per Share 0.70 0.64 0.54 0.48 0.48

2009 results include the after tax effect $4.9 million or $0.15 per share of the pro-tax $7.6 million gains related to the curtail

ment of certain postretirement benefits

Includes the effect of the retrospective application of new accounting guidance related to our former Contingent Convertible Senior

Subordinated Notes The retrospective application reduced previously reported income from continuing operations and net income

for 2008 2007 2006 and 2005 by $2.0 million $4.9 million $4.5 million and $4.1 million respectively The effect of this guid

ance also reduced total debt for 2007 2006 and 2005 by $3.1 million $10.8 million and $17.8 million respectively

Includes the effect of the retrospective application of new accounting guidance related to certain of our equity incentive awards

which participate in dividends prior to vesting The retrospective application reduced previously reported diluted earnings per share

from continuing Operations for 2008 2007 2006 and 2005 by $0.03 per share $0.02 per share $0.02 per share and $0.02 per

share respectively

2007 results include the after tax effect $3.1 million or $0.09 per share of the pre-tax $5.0 million gain on the sale of compo
nent of the Friction Control Products reporting segment
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ITEM MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND
ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

Our Company Kaydon Corporation is lead

ing designer and manufacturer of custom engi

neered performance-critical products supplying

broad and diverse group of alternative energy

industrial aerospace medical and electronic equip

ment and aftermarket customers Demand for our

products depends in part upon wide range of

general economic conditions which affect our mar
kets in varying ways from year to year

The global recessionary conditions that

impacted the economy during the second half of

2008 and throughout 2009 reduced demand for our

products and resulted in sales volume and operating

margin declines in each of our business segments

These adverse macroeconomic conditions resulted in

customers acting with caution which led to

decline in orders and requests for deferred delivery

of our product In response to these conditions we

have focused and will continue to focus on pro

grams to grow market share reduce costs and

improve capacity utilization and increase cash flow

thereby positioning us to capitalize on future oppor

tunities in targeted markets when conditions

improve

While worldwide business conditions remain

very challenging our industrial markets appear to

have stabilized albeit at cyclically low levels While

we are confident in our strategic positioning in each

of our markets meaningful improvements in 2010

will be dependent on an improved economy resulting

in resumption of higher order rates in our core

industrial end markets Because of our diverse prod

uct offerings and served markets as well as the

general uncertainty as to the timing and nature of

any economic recovery the specific impact of these

economic conditions on our operating results is diffi

cult to predict

With respect to the wind energy market while

growth continued in 2009 the longer term outlook

will be heavily influenced by both an improved

economy and resultant need for electricity and

greater clarity on the public policy front We believe

that recent actions and policy statements regarding

sustained committed policy towards increasing

renewable energy usage in the United States sup

ports the confidence we have in our investment in

this market

During 2009 our net sales totaled

$441.1 million with increased wind energy sales

being more than offset by the adverse effects of the

worldwide recession on our remaining businesses

We generated net income of $46.0 million and cash

flow from operating activities of $66.2 million dur

ing 2009 Due to the strong cash flow from opera

tions cash and cash equivalents increased

$29.4 million during the year even as we invested

$12.0 million in capital expenditures $8.9 million

for stock repurchases $14.8 million to fund our

qualified pension plans and increased our common

stock dividend The total order book for 2009

equaled $347.1 million compared to $596.0 in

2008 and $505.5 million in 2007 with the decrease

reflecting the macroeconomic downturn Our

2009 year-end backlog of $218.5 million provides

foundation for operating performance in 2010 how

ever orders for our industrial products will continue

to be impacted by the timing and nature of any

economic
recovery

Our investable balances provided

significant interest income in 2007 and early 2008

before financial markets deteriorated We responded

to these adverse financial market conditions in 2008

and 2009 with an investment strategy focused on

preserving cash balances Market interest rates on

these investments are now near zero percent As

result our returns on our investable balances were

relatively insignificant in 2009 and will not improve

significantly until market rates increase

During 2009 we completed our wind energy

capacity expansion program which provides us with

the flexibility to respond to customer requirements

when markets improve

In 2008 all of our $200.0 million 4% Contin

gent Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes due

2023 the Notes were converted into shares of

our common stock which made us debt-free

At December 31 2009 our current ratio was

9.3 to and working capital totaled $397.7 million

We believe that our cash and cash equivalents

balance of $262.4 million at December 31 2009

and future cash flows from operations along with

our borrowing capacity are adequate to fund our

strategies for future growth including working cap

ital expenditures for capital expansion and efficien

cies selected stock repurchases market share

initiatives and corporate development efforts

In summary our future performance will be

impacted by general economic conditions and the

strength or weakness of the manufacturing
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environment the success of our efforts to continue

to expand operations and improve operating effi

ciencies as well as the use of available cash and

borrowing capacity for future acquisitions

The discussion which follows should be

reviewed in conjunction with the consolidated

Selected Data For The Years 2009 2008 and 2007

financial statements and the related Notes to con

solidated financial statements contained in Item

of this Annual Report to assist in understanding our

results of operations financial condition cash flows

capital structure and other relevant financial

information

For the Years Ended December 31

%of %of %of

2009 sales 2008 sales 2007 sales

In thousands except per share amounts

Results from operations

Net sales $441145 $522374 $451382

Cost of sales 297280 330194 267082

Gross profit 143865 32.6% 192180 36.8% 184300 40.8%

Selling general and administrative expenses 72527 16.4% 86669 16.6% 73037 16.2%

Operating income 71338 16.2% 105511 20.2% 111263 24.6%

Interest expense 247 9363 17211

Interest income 537 4860 18051

Net income 45956 65063 72808

Earnings per share diluted 1.37 2.06 2.39

Analysis of 2009 Operations Compared to 2008

Operations

Net Sales

Net sales for 2009 equaled $441.1 million

decrease of $81.2 million or 15.5 percent compared

to net sales in 2008 of $522.4 million During 2009

the decline in net sales was primarily attributable to

decrease in volume of $73.2 million or

14.0 percent compared to 2008 as sales gains to

wind energy customers of $22.5 million or 28.0 per

cent were more than offset by the adverse impact

of the global economic recession on all our reporting

segments and all our other significant end markets

The adverse effects of changes in
currency

exchange rates had an $8.6 million or 1.6 percent

unfavorable impact on sales This decrease was

principally attributable to stronger U.S dollar

relative to the Euro and British pound on

year-over-year basis Finally net improved pricing

yielded an increase of $0.6 million for the year

Pricing changes were favorable in the first half of

2009 primarily as result of price increases on our

core products and were lower in the second half of

the year primarily due to contractual adjustments

associated with the contractual pass-through of

decreased material costs

Gross Margin

Gross margin in 2009 was 32.6 percent

decrease of 4.2 points from the 36.8 percent gross

margin in 2008 The decreased sales volume and

higher unabsorbed fixed costs associated with lower

production volumes accounted for 4.5 points of the

decline in gross margin and is largely due to the

global economic downturn partially offset by the

impact of cost reduction efforts implemented across

all our businesses Unfavorable changes in product

mix accounted for an additional 0.7 points of the

decline due to reduced sales volume to higher mar

gin industrial markets and increased sales volume

to the wind energy market where margins are not

as high Pricing had favorable impact of 1.0 point

on gross margin primarily attributable to favorable

selling price increases in the first half of 2009

Selling General and Administrative Expenses

Selling general and administrative expenses

were $72.5 million or 16.4 percent of sales in

2009 compared to $86.7 million or 16.6 percent of

sales in 2008 During 2009 we recorded curtail

ment gains totaling $7.6 million that were associ

ated with changes to certain postretirement benefit

plans The remaining decrease is primarily attribut

able to the preemptive and continuing steps that

have been taken throughout the year to reduce

discretionary costs across all reporting segments as
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result of lower sales volume partially offset by

approximately $1.8 million of one-time expenses

associated with layoffs and related severance in

2009

Operating Income

Our operating income was $71.3 million or

16.2 percent of sales in 2009 compared to

$105.5 million or 20.2 percent of sales in 2008

The decrease in gross profit more than offset the

decrease in selling general and administrative

expenses

Interest Income

During 2009 interest income totaled $0.5 mil

lion on average investment balances of $225.9 mil

lion as interest rates were negligible for most of the

year This compares to $4.9 million of interest

income in 2008 when we earned approximately

1.7 percent on average investment balances of

$272.0 million The decrease in average investment

balances resulted from investments in our capital

expenditure program increased working capital

contributions to our qualified pension plans the use

of cash for our stock repurchase program and an

increase in our dividend rate The decrease in aver

age interest rates in 2009 reflects our conservative

investment strategy to preserve cash balances in

response to financial market conditions and prevail

ing historically low interest rates on short term

treasury securities Interest rates for 2010 are

expected to show only modest improvement

Interest Expense

During 2009 interest expense totaled $0.2 mil

lion and represented amortization of credit facility

costs During 2008 interest expense totaled

$9.4 million The year-over-year difference of

$9.1 million is attributable to interest and amortiza

tion of issuance costs associated with the Notes that

were outstanding in the prior year including

$3.1 million adjustment of interest and amortization

costs associated with the retrospective application

of new accounting guidance effective January

2009

Provision for Income Taxes

The effective tax rate for 2009 was 35.8 per
cent compared to 35.6 percent in 2008 The effec

tive tax rate for 2010 is expected to decrease from

the level in 2009 due to the impact of tax credits

and lower income taxes on foreign earnings

Net Income

Net income for 2009 was $46.0 million or

$1.37 per share on diluted basis which included

the $4.9 million or $0.15 per share after tax gain

associated with the curtailment of certain postre

tirement benefits based on approximately 33.3 mil

lion common shares outstanding Net income for

2008 totaled $65.1 million or $2.06 per share on

diluted basis based on approximately 34.0 million

common shares outstanding The 2008 results have

been adjusted to reflect the required retrospective

application of new accounting guidance related to

convertible debt and earnings per share which were

effective January 2009 and reduced previously

reported 2008 net income by $2.0 million and

diluted earnings per share by $0.03

Analysis of 2008 Operations Compared to 2007

Operations

Net Sales

Net sales of $522.4 million in 2008 increased

$71.0 million or 15.7 percent compared to net sales

in 2007 of $451.4 million The increase was prima

rily attributable to $47.6 million increase in sales

from our wind energy initiative and increased sales

of $22.7 million from the inclusion of full
year

of

sales from the Avon acquisition which includes

$6.4 million of increased wind energy sales and

$5.7 million in increased sales of velocity control

products

Gross Margin

Gross margin for 2008 was 36.8 percent

decrease of 4.0 points from the 40.8 percent for

2007 The lower gross margin was due to the

combined effects of product mix shifts the incur

rence of costs to ramp up our wind energy expan

sion and the inclusion of Avon for which gross

margins are not as high as the Company average

Selling General and Administrative Expenses

Selling general and administrative
expenses

totaled $86.7 million and equaled 16.6 percent of

sales Selling general and administrative expenses

in 2007 totaled $73.0 million which included

$5.0 million positive effect of the gain on the sale

of component of the Friction Control Products
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reporting segment and equaled 16.2 percent of

sales Selling general and administrative expenses

increased during 2008 in support of increased sales

particularly for the expansion of the Companys
sales force and due to increased intangible amorti

zation expense associated with the Avon acquisition

Operating Income

Operating income totaled $105.5 million or

20.2 percent of sales compared to $111.3 million or

24.6 percent of sales during 2007 including the

aforementioned $5.0 million gain

Interest Income

Interest income declined to $4.9 million in

2008 compared to $18.1 million in 2007 The

decline was due to substantially lower market inter

est rates which on average were approximately

300 basis points lower than in 2007 The Company

also had lower average cash and short-term invest

ment balances due to investments in property

plant and equipment for capacity expansion share

repurchases pension contributions and increased

dividend payments In addition during 2008 the

Company incurred losses totaling $1.7 million

which were recorded as reduction to interest

income

Interest Expense

During 2008 $9.1 million of interest and

amortization of issuance costs was charged to inter

est expense related to our then outstanding

$200.0 million of 4% Contingent Convertible Senior

Subordinated Notes the Notes which were con

verted into shares of our common stock in the third

quarter of 2008 In 2007 $17.0 million of interest

and amortization of issuance costs related to the

Notes was charged to interest expense The retro

spective application of new accounting guidance

adopted as required on January 2009 increased

Friction Control Products

previously reported interest expense by $3.1 million

and $7.7 million for 2008 and 2007 respectively

Provision for Income Taxes

The effective tax rate for 2008 was 35.6 per

cent compared to 35.1 percent in 2007

Net Income

Our net income for 2008 totaled $65.1 million

or $2.06 per share on diluted basis based on

approximately 34.0 million common shares out

standing Net income for 2007 which included

$3.1 million or $0.09 per share after tax gain on

the sale of component of reporting segment

was $72.8 million or $2.39 per share on diluted

basis based on approximately 34.6 million common

shares outstanding The retrospective application of

new accounting guidance adopted as required on

January 2009 reduced previously reported

2008 net income and diluted earnings per
share by

$2.0 million and $0.03 per
share on diluted basis

respectively The application of this new accounting

guidance reduced previously reported 2007 net

income and diluted earnings per share by $4.9 mil

lion and $0.02 per share on diluted basis

respectively

Results by Business Segment

We classify our businesses into three reporting

segments Friction Control Products Velocity Con

trol Products and Sealing Products Our remaining

operating segments are combined and disclosed as

Other businesses The segment discussions that

follow describe the significant factors contributing

to the changes in results for each segment

The aforementioned 2009 curtailment gains

resulting from changes to our postretirement bene

fit plans which total $7.6 million in 2009 were not

allocated to our operating segments

For the Years Ended December 31

Change Change
2009 2008 2007 2009 to 2008 2008 to 2007

Dollars in millions

$296.4 $326.0 $261.7

50.3 73.9 77.0

17.0% 22.7% 29.4%

9.1% 24.6%

31.9% 4.0%

Sales

Operating Income

Operating Margin
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2009 Compared to 2008

Sales in our Friction Control Products reporting

segment were $296.4 million during 2009 compared

to $326.0 million in 2008 reflecting decrease of

$29.5 million or 9.1 percent Excluding sales gains

to wind energy customers of $22.5 million sales to

all other markets in 2009 decreased by $52.0 million

from 2008 This decline was due to the effects of

volume declines of approximately $47.2 million

associated with adverse economic conditions impact

ing industrial markets and an adverse
currency

exchange rate impact of $5.4 million which offset

$0.6 million benefit from increased pricing

Operating income from the Friction Control

Products reporting segment during 2009 totaled

$50.3 million compared to $73.9 million in 2008

The $23.5 million decrease in operating income was

due to $21.2 million adverse effect of lower sales

volumes $0.7 million adverse effect of product

mix resulting from lower sales to higher margin

industrial markets and $1.6 million decrease

resulting from higher costs net of cost saving initi

atives and pricing gains The higher costs include

increased depreciation associated with our invest

ment in capacity to support the wind energy growth

initiative increased pension expense and severance

and redundancy cost incurred during 2009

Velocity Control Products

2008 Compared to 2007

In 2008 sales in our Friction Control Products

reporting segment were $326.0 million an increase

of $64.3 million or 24.6 percent compared to 2007

sales of $261.7 million Sales of custom engineered

bearings to the wind energy market increased

$47.6 million to the military market increased

$8.0 million to the medical market increased

$4.8 million and to the heavy equipment market

increased $6.3 million Sales of split roller bearings

increased $5.4 million compared to 2007 Sales to

the machinery market declined $4.2 million sales to

the specialty electronics market declined $2.4 mil

lion and sales to other markets declined $1.2 million

compared to the 2007 The inclusion of full year

of Avon sales accounted for $22.7 million of the

aforementioned $64.3 million sales increase

Operating income from the Friction Control

Products reporting segment was $73.9 million dur

ing 2008 as compared to $77.0 million during 2007
The lower operating margin of 22.7 percent in 2008

compared to 29.4 percent in 2007 is the result of

the mix impact of increased wind energy sales and

the inclusion of full year of Avon sales as both

carry margins that are not as high as those in our

core industrial business Additionally 2008 operat

ing income was lower than in 2007 due to the

$5.0 million gain on the sale of component of this

reporting segment that was recorded in 2007

For the Years Ended December 31

Change Change
2009 2008 2007 2009 to 2008 2008 to 2007

Dollars in millions

$46.4 $69.6 $63.9

6.5 $18.0 $16.2

14.0% 25.9% 25.4%

Sales

Operating Income

Operating Margin

2009 Compared to 2008

During 2009 sales in our Velocity Control

Products reporting segment were $46.4 million

compared to $69.6 million in 2008 The decrease of

$23.3 million was due to decline in volume of

$20.0 million caused by decreased demand in world

wide markets for gas springs hydraulic dampers

and other products especially in industrial markets

and the adverse effects of changes in currency

exchange rates of approximately $3.3 million

The Velocity Control Products reporting seg
ment contributed $6.5 million to our operating

income during 2009 compared to $18.0 million

during 2008 This decrease in operating income is

principally due to the effect of the decline in sales

volume and adverse effects of exchange rate

changes of approximately $13.3 million and

$0.4 million respectively This decrease was par

tially offset by net cost reduction savings of

$2.2 million

2008 Compared to 2007

The Velocity Control Products reporting seg
ment achieved sales of $69.6 million during 2008

up $5.7 million or 8.9 percent from 2007 sales of

$63.9 million reflecting $2.7 million impact of

favorable currency exchange rate changes

33.4% 8.9%

64.0% 11.1%
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$1.8 million of increased sales volume of gas

springs hydraulic dampers and other products

particularly in European markets and $1.1 million

of increased pricing

Sealing Products

The Velocity Control Products reporting seg

ment contributed $18.0 million to our consolidated

operating income during 2008 as compared to

$16.2 million during 2007 due principally to the

benefit of increased sales volume

2009 Compared to 2008

Sales in our other businesses were $60.5 million

during 2009 compared to $81.8 million in 2008

The $21.3 million sales decline was principally due

to the global economic recession which resulted in

decreased sales of our liquid filtration air filtration

metal alloy and metal-forming products

Our other businesses contributed $4.7 million

to our operating income during 2009 compared to

$10.5 million during 2008 This decrease in operat

ing income is due to the effect of lower sales

For the Years Ended December 31

Change Change

2009 2008 2007 2009 to 2008 2008 to 2007

volumes of $9.0 million partially offset by net cost

reductions of $2.2 million and higher pricing of

$1.0 million

2008 Compared to 2007

Sales in our other businesses were $81.8 million

during 2008 up $2.7 million or 3.4 percent from

2007 sales of $79.1 million primarily due to growth

in our liquid and air filtration businesses and due to

higher pricing in our metal alloys business when tin

prices increased in mid-2008

Dollars in millions

Sales $37.8 $45.0 $46.7 15.9% 3.6%

Operating Income 3.9 5.0 8.7 22.1% 43.0%

Operating Margin 10.2% 11.1% 18.6%

2009 Compared to 2008 of higher pricing of $0.6 million net cost reductions

of approximately $2.4 million and 2008 property

Sales in our Sealing Products reporting seg- and equipment impairment charges of $0.8 million

ment in 2009 were $37.8 million compared to

$45.0 million in 2008 as decreased volume associ- 2008 Compared to 2007

ated with the global economic recession and cus

tomer deferrals of shipments of our products of Our Sealing Products reporting segment sales

$7.7 million was only partially offset by $0.6 mil- totaled $45.0 million during 2008 decline of

lion increase resulting from favorable pricing
3.6 percent from 2007 sales of $46.7 million due to

lower demand in the defense and railroad markets

The Sealing Products reporting segment con

tributed $3.9 million to our operating income during The Sealing Products reporting segment con-

2009 compared to $5.0 million during 2008 The tributed $5.0 million to our consolidated operating

combined effect of decreased sales volumes and an income during 2008 as compared to $8.7 million

adverse change in product mix associated with during 2007 due to the decrease in sales adverse

lower sales of higher margin industrial seals totaled product mix changes and property and equipment

$4.9 million and was partially offset by the impact impairment charges totaling $0.8 million

Other businesses

For the Years Ended December 31

Change Change

2009 2008 2007 2009 to 2008 2008 to 2007

Dollars in millions

Sales $60.5 $81.8 $79.1 26.0% 3.4%

Operating Income 4.7 $10.5 $11.1 55.4% 6.1%

Operating Margin 7.7% 12.8% 14.0%
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Our other businesses contributed $10.5 million

to our consolidated operating income during 2008

as compared to $11.1 million during 2007 with the

decrease principally due to an increase in product

costs

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At December 31 2009 our current ratio was

9.3 to and working capital totaled $397.7 million

including cash and cash equivalents of $262.4 mil

lion At December 31 2008 our current ratio was

6.8 to and working capital totaled $365.3 million

including cash and cash equivalents of

$233.0 million

We have historically generated significant cash

flows from operating activities to fund capital

expenditures dividends and other operating require

ments Cash flow generation has been enhanced by

our continuing efforts to improve operating efficien

cies implement cost reductions and manage work

ing capital requirements Net cash from operating

activities equaled $66.2 million in 2009 $57.9 mil

lion in 2008 and $74.3 million in 2007 Despite

difficult economic conditions net cash from operat

ing activities increased in 2009 compared to 2008

as reduced investments in working capital more

than offset the adverse impact of decreased net

income Net cash from operating activities in 2008

declined compared to 2007 as decreased net income

and increased investment in working capital associ

ated with sales growth more than offset the bene

fits of decreased contributions to our qualified

pension plans

Net inventories at December 31 2009 were

$88.8 million decrease of $9.0 million from the

$97.7 million of inventory at December 31 2008

The 2009 decrease was principally attributable to

the overall decline in sales volumes as inventory

turns were consistent on year-over-year basis Net

inventories at December 31 2008 increased

$28.9 million from the December 31 2007 balance

of $68.9 million The 2008 inventory increase was

attributable to sales growth and our investment in

inventory to supply bearings to wind energy turbine

manufacturers

In considering both our long-term confidence in

the wind energy market and our ongoing strategic

relationships with wind energy customers we have

made significant investments in support of this

initiative We closely monitor our accounts receiv

able from wind energy customers and are

reasonably assured that our accounts receivable are

fully collectible Additionally we believe that our

inventory as of December 31 2009 is fully realiz

able As such we have not established any reserve

for inventory or any allowance for doubtful accounts

related to wind energy customers as of Decem
ber 31 2009

At December 31 2009 we had approximately

$8.5 million of working capital invested on behalf of

an international wind energy customer including

past due accounts receivable and inventory and

purchase commitments made or incurred on the

customers behalf and designed to its agreed upon

specifications The customer has not paid us

because the customer alleges that certain field per

formance issues of its product are attributable to

the quality of our supplied bearings We are confi

dent that our bearings were made to the agreed

upon design specifications and that the customers

field performance issues relate to factors outside of

our control Under the documents which comprise

the sales contract the customer is obligated to pay

its liability and to reimburse us for inventory costs

incurred and lost profits In order to expedite the

resolution of this matter we have agreed with the

customerto enter into mediation
process and if

necessary binding arbitration As we are confident

in the quality of our supplied product and the

customers financial ability to pay we have con
cluded that the receivables and inventory are fully

realizable and the purchase commitments are fully

recoverable

Capital expenditures to expand productive

capacity improve quality and reduce costs equaled

$12.0 million in 2009 $60.7 million in 2008 and

$54.2 million in 2007 The decrease in capital

expenditures in 2009 compared to 2008 reflects the

completion of our wind energy capital expansion in

2009 and our disciplined approach to managing

capital expenditures during challenging economic

conditions The increase in 2008 compared to 2007

reflects the capital spending on the wind energy

growth initiative During 2009 2008 and 2007

capital expenditures for the wind energy growth

initiative totaled $5.4 million $33.7 million and

$29.1 million respectively During 2010 we expect

to invest approximately $30 million in aggregate

capital expenditures for all segments

At December 31 2008 we had net position

of $4.9 million in an enhanced cash investment The

fund issuer had restricted the redemption of the
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fund to permit its orderly liquidation During 2009

we received $5.1 million in proceeds from the

redemption of the remaining portion of this invest

ment and recorded $0.2 million gain on the

liquidation which was recorded as interest income

In 2008 we recorded $0.6 million in losses as

reduction of interest income on the partial liquida

tion of the fund Also in 2008 we recorded charges

as reduction of interest income totaling $1.0 mil

lion to reduce the gross investment to fair value

We continue our corporate development efforts

to complement internal growth through the acquisi

tion of additional companies that meet our well-

disciplined criteria In October 2007 we acquired

Avon Bearings Corporation for $54.4 million net of

working capital adjustments recorded in 2008 An

independent appraiser was engaged to assist man
agement in determining the fair values of sepa

rately recognized intangible assets of Avon After

allocating cost to other assets acquired and liabili

ties assumed based on their estimated fair values

the excess cost of the acquisition equal to $27.4 mil

lion was recognized as goodwill at December 31

2007 In 2008 we recorded purchase price adjust

ments of $1.1 million associated with this acquisi

tion which increased the associated goodwill

The Company paid common stock dividends

totaling $23.2 million $18.2 million and $14.4 mil

lion in 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively The

dividends paid through the third quarter of 2007

were at quarterly rate of $0.12 per share The

dividends paid in the fourth quarter of 2007 and the

first three quarters of 2008 were at quarterly rate

of $0.15 per share The dividends paid in the fourth

quarter of 2008 and in the first three quarters of

2009 were at quarterly rate of $0.17 per share

The dividend declared in July 2009 paid early in

the fourth quarter of 2009 was at quarterly rate

of $0.18 per share

We repurchased 314047 shares of our common

stock in 2009 for $8.9 million 937941 shares of

our common stock in 2008 for $35.9 million and

601974 shares of our common stock in 2007 for

$30.1 million In 2005 the Companys Board of

Directors authorized share repurchase program of

up to 5000000 shares Of the 5000000 shares

currently authorized by the Board of Directors for

repurchase 1970817 shares have been repur

chased as of December 31 2009 We will make

opportunistic stock repurchases over time the

amount of which will depend on the market for our

common stock and our financial position and

liquidity

Our payments to various taxing authorities

were $16.7 million $27.4 million and $25.1 million

during 2009 2008 and 2007 Tax payments are

expected to be approximately $20 million during

2010 As part of governmental efforts to react to

climate change and stimulate economic growth The

American Reinvestment and Recovery Act of 2009

authorized the Department of Treasury to award

tax credits for qualified investments in advanced

energy projects to support new expand or re-equip

domestic manufacturing facilities In 2010 we were

awarded $1.8 million in tax credits for our qualify

ing advanced energy investment which we expect to

utilize beginning in 2010

In 2003 we issued $200.0 million of 4% Con

tingent Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes due

2023 the Notes The Notes were convertible

into shares of Company common stock provided

certain contingencies were met During 2008 hold

ers of the Notes converted their Notes into Com

pany common stock which were issued from

treasury stock

We had no debt outstanding at any time during

2009 and accordingly paid no cash interest Cash

paid for interest totaled $4.0 million in 2008 and

$8.0 million in 2007 During 2008 $9.1 million of

interest and amortization of issuance costs was

charged to interest expense related to the Notes In

2007 $17.0 million of interest and amortization of

issuance costs related to the Notes was charged to

interest expense The retrospective application of

new accounting guidance adopted as required on

January 2009 increased previously reported

interest expense by $3.1 million and $7.7 million for

2008 and 2007 respectively

We have senior credit facility with syndi

cate of lenders providing for $300.0 million senior

unsecured revolving credit facility The credit facil

ity provides for borrowings and issuances of letters

of credit by the Company and its subsidiaries in

various currencies for general corporate purposes

including acquisitions The credit facility matures on

July 12 2010 and is guaranteed by the Company

and certain of our domestic subsidiaries Interest

accrues on borrowings under the revolving credit

facility based on the London Interbank Offered

Rate The revolving credit facility contains restric

tive financial covenants on consolidated basis

including leverage and coverage ratios utilizing
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measures of earnings and interest expense as

defined in the revolving credit facility agreement

We are in compliance with all restrictive covenants

contained in the revolving credit facility at Decem

ber 31 2009 We have available credit under our

revolving credit facility of $300.0 million at Decem
ber 31 2009 We are planning on establishing

new credit facility during the first half of 2010

Fees related to our existing revolving credit

facility of approximately $1.2 million are being

amortized as component of interest expense over

five-year period Revolving credit facility fees

included in other assets in the Consolidated Balance

Sheet as of December 31 2009 equaled

$0.1 million

We expect that our planned capital require

ments which consist of capital expenditures divi

dend payments and our stock repurchase program

will be financed by operations and existing cash

balances In addition our revolving credit facility

provides additional financial strength to support our

objectives including future acquisitions

Our significant contractual obligations as of December 31 2009 are set forth below

We expect to make cash contributions of

approximately $2.9 million to our pension plans in

2010 We review our funding strategy for our pen
sion plans on an ongoing basis We expect to

contribute approximately $0.6 million to our postre

tirement benefit plans in 2010 We have $2.5 million

of liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits which are

excluded from the above table because the timing

of settlement of these liabilities cannot be reason

ably estimated

Corporate Development

Our corporate development efforts are intended

to complement internal growth through the acquisi

tion of additional companies consistent with our

well-disciplined criteria We maintain disciplined

acquisition program which has made important

contributions to our growth In 2007 we acquired

all of the outstanding stock of Avon Bearings

Corporation Avon in cash transaction valued

at $54.4 million net of $0.5 million of working

capital adjustments recorded in 2008 Avon is

custom designer and manufacturer of high precision

large diameter turntable bearings Avon also

remanufactures bearings and sells replacement

bearings

Litigation

We are party to various pending lawsuits and

other matters arising in the normal course of busi

ness Our estimated legal costs expected to be

incurred in connection with claims lawsuits and

environmental matters are accrued in the consoli

dated financial statements The costs accrued at

December 31 2009 and 2008 were not material

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are pre

pared in conformity with U.S generally accepted

accounting principles The preparation of these

financial statements requires the use of estimates

judgments and assumptions that affect the

reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclo

sure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date

of the financial statements and the reported

amounts of revenues and expenses during the peri

ods presented

We continually evaluate the estimates judg

ments and assumptions used to prepare the consol

idated financial statements In general our

estimates are based on historical experience infor

mation from third party professionals and various

other judgments and assumptions that are believed

to be reasonable under the current facts and cir

cumstances Actual results could differ from our

current estimates We have identified certain

accounting policies and estimates described below

that are the most critical to the portrayal of our

current financial condition and results of operations

Inventories Inventories are stated at the

lower of cost or market with cost determined on

Payments due by period

Less than More than

Contractual Obligations Total year 1-3 years 3-5 years years

In thousands

Operating leases $11610 $2345 $4487 $2325 $2453

Purchase obligations for property plant and equipment 1158 1158

Total $12768 $3503 $4487 $2325 $2453
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first-in first-out basis The carrying value of inven

tory is reduced for estimated obsolescence by the

difference between its cost and the estimated mar

ket value based upon assumptions regarding future

demand We evaluate the inventory carrying value

for potential excess and obsolete inventory expo

sures by analyzing historical and anticipated

demand In addition inventories are evaluated for

potential obsolescence due to the effect of known or

anticipated engineering change orders new prod

ucts and other factors

We believe the accounting estimates related to

inventories to be critical accounting estimates

because the assumptions used to determine the

valuation of inventories while based on reasonable

and supportable information may change and cause

projected outcomes to vary

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets We con

tinually evaluate whether events and circumstances

have occurred that indicate the remaining estimated

useful lives of long-lived assets including fixed

assets and amortizable intangible assets may war

rant revision or that remaining balances may not be

recoverable When factors indicate that such costs

should be evaluated for possible impairment we use

an estimate of undiscounted future cash flows over

the remaining lives of the long-lived assets that is

compared to the carrying value of the asset to

evaluate whether the asset costs are recoverable

We believe the accounting estimates related to

long-lived asset impairment to be critical accounting

estimates because the estimate of undiscounted

future cash flows while based on reasonable and

supportable assumptions and projections requires

our subjective judgments and the time periods for

estimating future cash flows is often lengthy

increasing the sensitivity of assumptions made thus

projected outcomes may vary

To better understand this accounting policy

and its impact on us readers should refer to the

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note and Note 10 in this Annual Report for

additional information regarding long-lived assets

Impairment of Goodwill and Indefinite-

Lived Intangible Assets We test goodwill for

impairment at the reporting unit level which repre

sents an operating segment or component of an

operating segment for which discrete financial

information is available and segment management

regularly reviews the operating results Currently

eight of our reporting units have goodwill balances

We test for impairment of goodwill on an

annual basis by comparing the fair value of each

reporting unit with the reporting units carrying

amount The fair value of the reporting unit is

derived from an estimate of discounted future cash

flows The discounted cash flow model for each

reporting unit requires judgmental assumptions

regarding each reporting units specific projected

revenue growth future operating margins and

working capital and capital expenditure require

ments in addition to assumptions of appropriate

discount rates and terminal values based on growth

rates in perpetuity There are inherent uncertainties

related to these assumptions and managements

judgment in applying them to the analysis of good

will impairment While we believe we have made

reasonable estimates and assumptions to calculate

the fair value of our reporting units it is possible

material change could occur Goodwill of reporting

unit is tested for impairment between annual tests

if an event occurs or circumstances change that

would more likely than not reduce the fair value of

reporting unit below its carrying amount

In 2009 as of our annual assessment date we

used 12 percent discount rate to calculate fair

value for all of our reporting units In 2008 an

11 percent discount rate was utilized The discount

rate used each
year

is the value-weighted average

of our estimated cost of equity and estimated cost

of debt cost of capital derived using both

known and estimated customary marketplace met

rics including size risk premium The one percent

increase in the discount rate used for 2009 com

pared to 2008 is driven by the use of an additional

market risk premium to account for the increased

level of systematic risk prevailing in the market and

the low yield for risk-free securities as of the

valuation date We currently utilize the same dis

count rate to estimate the fair value of all of our

reporting units because we believe that the underly

ing similarities in the businesses within our portfolio

result in common risk profile with regard to

assumed variability of estimated future undis

counted cash flows Our calculation methodology

was unchanged during 2009 and the consistent

application of this methodology may result in

changes in the discount rate in future periods

In arriving at future discounted cash flows for

each reporting unit we evaluate the appropriate
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growth rate in perpetuity for each of our reporting

units to calculate terminal value of cash flows

following each reporting units five year planning

period The terminal value for each reporting unit is

determined based on that units specific operating

cash flow at the end of the planning period and the

units assumed growth rate in perpetuity We cur

rently utilize the same assumed growth rate in

perpetuity of two percent in the discounted cash

flow model of each of our reporting units This is

based on our assumption that the long term growth

rates following our planning periods no longer ben

efit from specifically-planned reporting unit initia

tives and therefore only reflect the overall

approximate long term economic growth rate

Potential goodwill impairment is identified if

reporting units carrying amount is more than

reporting units fair value If this occurs normally

third-party valuation specialist is utilized to assist

us in determining the implied fair value of the

reporting units goodwill The amount of any actual

impairment loss is calculated by comparing the

implied fair value of the reporting units goodwill

with the carrying amount of the reporting units

goodwill

Our goodwill impairment testing in 2009

revealed that the excess of the estimated fair value

of each of the reporting units tested over their

carrying value expressed as percentage of the

carrying amount as of the July 31st annual testing

date ranged from approximately 22 percent to

approximately 475 percent Assumptions regarding

discount rate revenue growth rates operating

profit margins and perpetuity growth rate may have

significant effect on the estimated fair value of

our reporting units In order to evaluate the sensi

tivity of the fair value calculations on the goodwill

impairment test we applied hypothetical ten per

cent decrease to the fair values of each reporting

unit The results of this ten percent hypothetical

change in fair values would not have changed our

conclusion that fair values exceeded carrying values

in each case by material amount

Certain trademarks are our only indefinite-lived

intangible assets We identify impairment of these

trademarks by comparing their fair value to their

carrying amounts The fair values of the trade

marks are calculated based on estimates of dis

counted future cash flows related to the net amount

of royalty expenses avoided due to the existence of

the trademarks

We believe the accounting estimates related to

impairment of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangi

ble assets to be critical accounting estimates

because the estimate of discounted future cash

flows and terminal values while based on reason

able and supportable assumptions and projections

require our subjective judgments the time periods

for estimating future cash flows is often lengthy

which increases the sensitivity to assumptions

made projected outcomes based on the assumptions

made can vary and the calculation of implied fair

value is inherently subject to estimates

To better understand this accounting policy

and its impact on us readers should refer to the

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 10 in this Annual Report for additional

information regarding goodwill and intangible

assets

Retirement Benefits Our employee pension

and postretirement benefit costs and obligations

recorded in the financial statements are dependent

on our estimates provided to and used by our

actuaries in calculating such amounts

We believe the accounting estimates related to

retirement benefits to be critical accounting esti

mates because of the wide range of assumptions

used in deriving yearly contribution and expense

amounts as well as the amounts recorded for retire

ment benefits in our financial statements Signifi

cant assumptions include judgments regarding

discount rates health care cost trend rates salary

growth rates and long-term returns on plan assets

We have developed estimates based on histor

ical experience information from third party profes

sionals and various other judgments and

assumptions that are believed to be reasonable

under the current facts and circumstances In devel

oping the discount rate assumption used to deter

mine the pension and postretirement benefit

obligations we use the weighted average of mar
ket-observed yields for high quality fixed income

securities with maturities that correspond to the

payment of benefits The equivalent weighted-aver

age discount rate is calculated by imputing the

interest rate that equates the total present value

with the stream of future cash flows Health care

cost trend assumptions are developed based on his

torical data the near-term outlook and on an

assessment of likely long-term trends Salary

growth assumptions reflect our long-term experi

ence the near-term outlook and assumed inflation
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Long-term return on plan assets is based on an

evaluation of historical and expected returns of the

individual asset classes comprising the total plan

assets For individual categories of equity securities

historical total and real rates of return are consid

ered together with inflation and overall market

factors including dividend yield earnings growth

changes in price to earnings ratios and volatility of

returns For various fixed income asset categories

expected long-term returns are determined after

consideration of current yields on fixed income

securities inflation historical yields relative to

benchmarks and long-term default rates For other

Actual results that differ from our assumptions

are accumulated and amortized over future periods

and therefore generally affect our recognized

expense and recorded obligation in such future

periods While we believe that the assumptions used

are appropriate significant differences in actual

experience or significant changes in assumptions

would affect our pension and postretirement bene

fits costs and obligations

The current market conditions for highly rated

corporate bonds has significant effect on our

assumption for the discount rate used to determine

projected benefit obligations and net periodic benefit

cost where an increase decrease in interest rates

will result in decrease increase in the projected

benefit obligation and decrease increase in net

periodic benefit cost At December 31 2009 the

discount rates assumed were lower than those at

December 31 2008 affecting plan benefit

asset classes including real estate expected long-

term returns are determined through consideration

of certain factors which may include historical

returns dividend yields inflation benchmark

returns and net asset values

Assumed discount rates expected rate of

return on plan assets and rate of compensation

increases have significant effect on the amounts

reported for the pension plans The effect of one

percentage point increase or decrease in each factor

on the projected benefit obligation and net periodic

pension cost would have been

obligations at December 31 2009 and the net

periodic pension cost for 2010 accordingly

Changes in current conditions in financial mar

kets do not significantly alter the underlying long-

term expected return on plan assets each year

However actual returns compared to the expected

return on plan assets have significant effect on

the funded status of the plans and consequently

the net periodic pension cost and plan contributions

in future periods The actual rate of return on plan

assets in 2008 was significantly below the expected

long-term rate of return on plan assets reducing the

funded status at December 31 2008 and increasing

the net periodic pension cost in 2009 We chose to

make voluntary contribution to our qualified pen
sion plans in 2009 using cash generated from oper

ations The actual rate of return on plan assets in

2009 significantly exceeded the expected long-term

rate of return on plan assets The combined effect

1-Percentage-Point 1-Percentage-Point

Increase Decrease

Discount rate effect on December 31 2009 projected benefit obligation $13096000 $15957000

Discount rate effect on the 2009 net periodic pension cost 1430000 1733000

Salary scale effect on December 31 2009 projected benefit obligation 3334000 $2831000

Salary scale effect on the 2009 net periodic pension cost 881000 721000

Expected return on plan assets effect on net periodic pension cost 707000 707000

The following table summarizes certain of the Companys assumptions

Postretirement

Pension Benefits Benefits

2009 2008 2009 2008

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine projected benefit obligation

Discount rate qualified pension plans 5.93% 6.25% N/A N/A

Discount rate non-qualified pension plan 6.05% 6.25% N/A N/A

Discount rate postretirement benefit plans N/A N/A 5.47% 6.25%

Rate of compensation increase age graded 5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost

Discount rate qualified pension plans and postretirement benefit plans 6.25% 6.50% 6.23% 6.50%

Discount rate non-qualified pension plan 6.25% 6.25% N/A N/A

Expected long-term return on plan assets 8.00% 8.00% N/A N/A

Rate of compensation increase age graded in 2009 average in 2008 5.00% 4.00% 5.00% 4.00%
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of our voluntary contribution and the actual rate of

return on plan assets resulted in relative improve

ment in the funding status of our qualified plans at

December 31 2009 and will result in reduced net

periodic pension cost in 2010 Our cash contribu

tions required to fund our pension plans in 2010 are

expected to be $2.9 million The 2010 cash contri

butions and future expected contributions are

expected to have only minor impact on our

current and future liquidity as we expect to meet

funding requirements from cash generated in our

operations or our available cash resources

To better understand this accounting policy

and its impact on us readers should refer to the

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note in this Annual Report for additional infor

mation regarding costs obligations and assump
tions for employee pension and postretirement

benefits

Income Taxes We record deferred tax assets

and liabilities using enacted tax rates for the effect

of differences between the book and tax basis of

recorded assets and liabilities These deferred tax

assets and liabilities are reviewed for recoverability

by using estimates of future taxable income streams

and the impact of tax planning strategies Deferred

tax assets are reduced by valuation allowance if it

is more likely than not that portion of the

deferred tax asset will not be realized Reserves are

also estimated for ongoing audits regarding federal

state and international issues that are currently

unresolved Income tax is provided based upon an

effective tax rate that is dependent upon tax regu
lations governing the regions in which we conduct

business geographic composition of worldwide

earnings the availability of tax credits and other

factors

We have liabilities recorded for unrecognized

tax benefits totaling $2.5 million as of December 31

2009 all of which would affect the effective tax

rate It is our policy to include interest and penalties

incurred due to underpayment or late payment of

income taxes due to taxing authority on

net-of-tax basis as component of income tax

expense We have recorded $1.0 million in liabilities

for tax-related interest and penalties on our consol

idated balance sheet as of December 31 2009 The

Company does not expect that the total amounts of

unrecognized tax benefits will significantly change

within the next twelve months

The Company or one or more of its subsidiar

ies operates and files income tax returns in the

United States various states and foreign jurisdic

tions Foreign jurisdictions significant to the Com

pany include Germany and the United Kingdom

With limited exceptions we are no longer subject to

U.S federal tax examinations for years before

2006 state examinations for years before 2004

German tax examinations for years before 2006 or

United Kingdom tax examinations for years before

2007

We believe the accounting estimates related to

income taxes to be critical accounting estimates

because the range of assumptions used to determine

deferred tax assets and liabilities and to record

current tax benefits and liabilities while based on

reasonable and supportable information may

change from year to year causing projected out

comes to vary

To better understand this accounting policy

and its impact on us readers should refer to the

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note in this Annual Report for additional infor

mation regarding income taxes

Forward-Looking Statements

This Form 10-K contains forward-looking

statements within the meaning of the Securities

Exchange Act of 1934 regarding our plans expec

tations estimates and beliefs Forward-looking

statements are typically identified by words such as

believes anticipates estimates expects

intends will may should could poten

tial projects approximately and other similar

expressions including statements regarding pending

litigation general economic conditions competitive

dynamics and the adequacy of capital resources

These forward-looking statements may include

among other things projections of our financial

performance anticipated growth and expansion

characterization of and our ability to control contin

gent liabilities and anticipated trends in our busi

nesses These statements are only predictions

based on our current expectation about future

events Although we believe the expectations

reflected in the forward-looking statements are rea

sonable we cannot guarantee future results perfor

mance or achievements or that predictions or

current expectations will be accurate These for

ward-looking statements involve risks and uncer

tainties that could cause our actual results
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performance or achievements to differ materially

from those expressed or implied by the forward-

looking statements

In addition the Company or persons acting on

its behalf may from time to time publish or commu
nicate other items that could also be construed to

be forward-looking statements Statements of this

sort are or will be based on our estimates assump

tions and projections and are subject to risks and

uncertainties that could cause actual results to

differ materially from those included in the for

ward-looking statements We do not undertake any

responsibility to update our forward-looking state

ments or risk factors to reflect future events or

circumstances except to the extent required by

applicable law

ITEM 7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALIIATIVE
DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to certain market risks which

exist as part of our ongoing business operations

including interest rates and foreign currency

exchange rates The exposure to market risk for

changes in interest rates relates primarily to invest

ments in cash and cash equivalents and short-term

investments All highly liquid investments including

highly liquid debt and investment instruments pur
chased with an original maturity of three months or

less are considered cash equivalents We place our

investments in cash equivalents with high credit

quality issuers and limit the amount of exposure to

any one issuer decrease in interest rates would

not have material impact on our pre-tax earnings

We conduct business in various foreign currencies

primarily in Europe Mexico and Asia Therefore

changes in the value of currencies in these regions

affect our financial condition and cash flows when

translated into U.S dollars We have mitigated and

will continue to mitigate portion of our currency

exposure through operation of decentralized foreign

operating companies in which certain costs are local

currency based In addition periodically we enter

into derivative financial instruments in the form of

forward foreign exchange contracts to reduce the

effect of fluctuations in foreign exchange rates

10 percent change in the value of all foreign curren

cies would not have material effect on our finan

cial condition and cash flows
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ITEM FINANCIAL STA TEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

MANAGEMENTS REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Kaydons management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over

financial reporting Internal control over financial reporting is defined under applicable Securities and

Exchange Commission rules as process designed under the supervision of the Companys Chief Executive

Officer and Chief Financial Officer and effected by the Companys Board of Directors management and

other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the

preparation of the Companys financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles The Companys internal control over financial reporting includes those

policies and procedures that

Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the

transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company

Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary
to permit preparation of

financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts

and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of

management and the Directors of the Company and

Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition

use or disposition of the Companys assets that could have material effect on the financial

statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk

that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance

with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management including our Chief Executive

Officer and Chief Financial Officer we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control

over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission Based on our evaluation under the

framework in Internal Control Integrated Framework our management concluded that our internal

control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31 2009

Ernst Young LLP the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the consolidated

financial statements of the Company included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K has issued their report

on the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2009

Their report is included herein under the heading Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting

Firm Internal Control
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Kaydon Corporation

We have audited Kaydon Corporations internal control over financial reporting as of December 31

2009 based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission the COSO criteria Kaydon Corporations manage

ment is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment

of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management

Report On Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the

companys internal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable

assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material

respects Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting

assessing the risk that material weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and operating

effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk and performing such other procedures as we

considered
necessary

in the circumstances We believe that our audit provides reasonable basis for our

opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is
process designed to provide reasonable

assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for

external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control

over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of

records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets

of the company provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit

preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that

receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of

management and directors of the company and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or

timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have

material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk

that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance

with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion Kaydon Corporation maintained in all material respects effective internal control over

financial reporting as of December 31 2009 based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31 2009 and 2008 and the related

consolidated statements of income shareholders equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the

period ended December 31 2009 of Kaydon Corporation and our report dated February 26 2010 expressed

an unqualified opinion thereon

Is Ernst Young LLP

Detroit Michigan

February 26 2010
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Kaydon Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Kaydon Corporation as of

December 31 2009 and 2008 and the related consolidated statements of income shareholders equity and

cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2009 Our audits also included the

financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15a These financial statements and schedule are

the responsibility of the Companys management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these

financial statements and schedule based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable

assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement An audit includes

examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements An

audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management

as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide

reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the

consolidated financial position of Kaydon Corporation at December 31 2009 and 2008 and the consolidated

results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31

2009 in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles Also in our opinion the related

financial statement schedule when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as whole

presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein

As discussed in Note to the consolidated financial statements the accompanying consolidated financial

statements have been retrospectively adjusted for the adoption of new accounting standard related to the

Companys previously outstanding 4% Contingent Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes Also as discussed

in Note there have been retrospective adjustments relating to the adoption of new accounting standard

related to the earnings allocation to participating securities included in calculating earnings per share under

the two-class method

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight

Board United States Kaydon Corporations internal control over financial reporting as of December 31

2009 based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated Febmary 26 2010 expressed

an unqualified opinion thereon

Is Ernst Young LLP

Detroit Michigan

February 26 2010
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KAYDON CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31 2009 and 2008

2009 2008

ASSETS

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 262403000 232998000

Accounts receivable less allowance of $1183000 in 2009 and $991000 in 2008 77977000 78918000

Inventories net 88796000 97748000

Other current assets 16601000 18395000

Total current assets 445777000 428059000

Property plant and equipment at cost

Land and improvements 4823000 5221000

Buildings and leasehold improvements 58939000 56076000

Machinery and equipment 278175000 272739000

341937000 334036000

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 166221000 148394000

175716000 185642000

Goodwill net 143891000 142424000

Other intangible assets net 21552000 25746000

Other assets 1008000 7911000

787944000 789782000

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

Current Liabilities

Accounts payable 21353000 35080000

Accrued expenses

Salaries and wages 5087000 8302000

Employee benefits 4055000 4601000

Dividends payable 6043000 5750000

Other accrued expenses 9073000 6186000
Taxes payable 2473000 2843000

Total current liabilities 48084000 62762000

Long-term postretirement and postemployment benefit obligations 28669000 53478000

Deferred taxes 10391000

Other long-term liabilities 835000 912000

Total long-term liabilities 39895000 54390000

Shareholders Equity

Preferred stock $10 par value 2000000 shares authorized none issued

Common stock $.10 par value 98000000 shares authorized 36925729 shares issued in

2009 and 2008 3693000 3693000

Paid-in capital 103892000 100367000

Retained earnings 677480000 655035000

Less Treasury stock at cost 3660665 and 3422000 shares in 2009 and 2008 59245000 52468000
Accumulated other comprehensive income 25855000 33997000

699965000 672630000

787944000 789782000

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements
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KAYDON CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
For the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

2009 2008 2007

$441145000 $522374000 $451382000

297280000 330194000 267082000

143865000 192180000 184300000

72527000 86669000 73037000

71338000 105511000 111263000

247000 9363000 17211000
537000 4860000 18051000

71628000 101008000 112103000

25672000 35945000 39295000

45956000 65063000 72808000

Net Sales

Cost of sales

Gross Profit

Selling general and administrative expenses

Operating Income

Interest expense

Interest income

Income Before Income Taxes

Provision for income taxes

Net Income

Earnings Per Share

Basic $1.37 $2.17 $2.59

Diluted $1.37 $2.06 $2.39

Dividends Declared Per Share $0.70 $0.64 $0.54

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements
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KAYDON CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY
For the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

Comprehensive Common
Income Stock

Paid-in Retained

Capital Earnings

Accomolated

Other

Treasnry Comprehensive

Stock Income Loss

2006-2008 have been adjueted as required fer the retrenpective appliratien nf acceunting guidance related te the Cempanyn fermer nenier subnrdinated netes

as mere fully described in Nnte whirh inrreaned Paid-in Capital at December 31 2006 by $14646000 and reduced Retained Earnings by $14646000
Cumprised ef cumulative translatien adjustment ef 3392000 5503000 and $1 1194000 at December 31 20092008 and 2007 aftertax impact en

pensinn benefits ef $27364000 $37318000 and $5407000 at December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 after tax impact en ether pentretirement

benefits ef $4901000 $8824000 and $12888000 at December 31 2009 2008 aed 2007 and after tax unrealized less en available-fer-eale securities ef

$179000 at December 31 2007

The acrempanyleg netes are an letegral part ef these statements

Total

Balance Decemher 31 2006 $3693000 58535000 $552142000 $188705000 7518000 $433180000

Net mmmc 2007 72808000 72808000 72808000

Other ramprcheasiee inrsme net sf tax

Cumulative trasslatien adjustments 4244000 4244000 4244000

Pastretirement beaefit plans net af $4951000 tax 6913000 6913000 6913000

Unrealized lass an available-far-sale investments net af

$108000 tax 179000 179000 179000

Comprehenaive incame 83786000

Cash dividends derlared 15148000 15148000
Beard af Dirertara deferred rampenaatian 83000 83000

Equity campenent af canvertible debt 4899000 4899000

Iaauaace af 4250 churns af ramman stark under stark

aptian plans 96000 195000 99000

Stack aptian campnnaatian 674000 674000

Tax benefit related to restricted stark awards 281000 281000

Purchase af 601974 shares of treasury stark 30091000 30091000
Restricted stuck award cancellations 50000 50000
Campensatian cast related to restricted stark awards 5627000 5627000

Vesting of past-2005 stark awards 649000 649000

Balance December 31 2007 $1693000 69404000 $609802000 $219005000 18496000 $483390000

Net incama 2008 65063000 65063000 65063000

Other camprehenaive mmmc net af tax

Camulative tranalatian adjuatmnnta 16697000 16697000 16697000
Peatretirement bene0t plans net of $20353000 tax 35975000 35975000 35975000
Rerugnitian af unrealized lass an available-far-sale

invnatmnnte net of $108000 tax 179000 179000 179000

Camprehnnaivn mmmc 12570000

Cash dividends derlared 19764000 19764000
Equity campaneat af cauvertible debt 2008000 2008000

Beard af Directara deferred rampensatian 178000 178000

Iaauance ef 10000 aharna af comman stack under stack

aptian plans 214000 456000 242000

Stark aptian campnnaatian 1213000 1213000

Tax benefit related te restricted stack awards 416000 416000

Purchase af 937941 shares af treasury stack 15916000 35916000
Restdcted stack award rancellatiana 18000 18000

Campenaatian cast related ta restricted atack awarde 4514000 4514000

Vesting af past-2005 stack awards 2817000 2817000

Adaptian af pastretiremant measurement data gaidance nat

af $39000 tax 66000 66000
Treasury stack iaeued an caneeraian af convertible

debentures 25647000 198198000 223845000

Balance December 91 2008 $3693000 $100367000 $655035000 92468000 $33997000 $672630000

Nat incame 2009 45956000 45956000 45956000

Other cemprehanaiaa mmmc net af tax

Cumulative tranalatien adjustments 2111000 2111000 2111000

Peatretirement beaefit plans net of $4162000 tax 6011000 6031000 6031000

Camprnhenaive incame 54098000

Cash dividends dnnlared 21511000 -- 23511000
Baurd af Directaro deferred campensatian 125000 125000

Ieauance af 1000 shares af camman stark nuder stack

aptian plans 1000 23000 24000

Stack aptian mampeuaatiaa 1300000 1300000

Tax benefit related to restricted stack uwarda 49000 49000

Purchase of 314047 shares af treasury stark 8671000 8871000
Reatdcted stack award caucellatloas 35000 35000

Campeueatiaa cast related te reatiicted stack awards 4121000 4121000

Veetiag af paat-2005 stack awarda 2106000 2106000

Balance December 31 2009 $3693000 $103892000 $677480000 59245000 $25555000 $699965000
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KAYDON CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements

19836000

4283000

4121000

248000

12209000

3000

1300000

52000
7613000

14846000

1605000

9703000

968000
13885000

4281000

66181000

16181000

5464000

4514000

790000

10429000

103000

1213000

438000

11910000

14112000
30920000

312000
7318000

4517000

57900000

72808000

5033000
11813000

3189000

5627000

1548000

18223000

40000

674000

291000

26140000

10469000
8389000
3701000

4464000

2494000

74259000

2009 2008 2007

45956000 65063000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash from operating activities

Gain on the sale of component of reporting segment

Depreciation

Amortization of intangible assets

Amortization of stock awards

Deferred financing fees

Deferred taxes

Tax benefit related to stock options exercised

Stock option compensation

Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation

Non-cash postretirement benefits curtailment gain

Contributions to qualified pension plans

Changes in assets and liabilities net of effects of acquisitions and sale of

businesses and business components

Accounts receivable

Inventories

Other assets

Accounts payable

Accrued expenses and taxes payable

Net cash from operating activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Purchases of short-term investments 398856000
Proceeds from sale of investments 5145000 65407000 341856000
Acquisitions of businesses net of cash acquired 489000 54869000
Additions to property plant and equipment 11986000 60704000 54244000
Dispositions of property plant and equipment 1229000 1194000 171000
Purchases of long-term investments 15000000
Proceeds from the sale of component of reporting segment 6500000

Net cash from used in investing activities 5612000 6386000 174442000
Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Cash dividends paid 23207000 18180000 14354000
Purchase of treasury stock 8871000 35916000 30091000
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 24000 242000 99000
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation 52000 438000 291000

Net cash used in financing activities 32002000 53416000 44055000
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents 838000 7865000 3442000

Net Increase Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents 29405000 3005000 140796000
Cash and Cash Equivalents Beginning of Year 232998000 229993000 370789000

Cash and Cash Equivalents End of Year $262403000 $232998000 229993000

Cash paid for income taxes 16743000 27429000 25125000

Cash paid for interest 4000000 8000000
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED Financial Statements

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include

the accounts of Kaydon Corporation and its wholly-

owned domestic and foreign subsidiaries Kaydon
or the Company All significant intercompany

accounts and transactions have been eliminated

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confor

mity with U.S generally accepted accounting princi

pIes requires management to make estimates and

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets

and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and

liabilities at the date of the financial statements and

the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during

the reporting period While the Company does not

believe that the ultimate settlement of its assets or

liabilities will materially affect the Companys financial

condition or results of future operations actual results

may differ from estimates provided

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid debt

and investment instruments purchased with ma
turity of three months or less to be cash

equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are summarized as

follows at December 31

2009 2008

Money market and other

short-term funds $248091000 $221604000

Time deposits other interest

bearing accounts and

other cash 14312000 11394000

$262403000 $232998000

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or

market with cost determined using the first-in

first-out method Inventories are summarized as

follows at December 31

2009 2008

Raw material $32933000 $41158000

Work in process 22857000 24852000

Finished goods 33006000 31738000

$88796000 $97748000

Property Plant and Equipment

Property plant and equipment are stated at

cost The cost is depreciated over the estimated

useful lives of the assets using the straight-line

method The Company recorded depreciation

expense of $19.8 million $16.2 million and

$11.8 million in 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Useful lives vary among the classifications but

generally fall within the following ranges

Buildings land improvements and leasehold

improvements

Machinery and equipment

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the

terms of the respective leases or over their useful

lives whichever is shorter Renewals and better

ments are capitalized while maintenance and repairs

are charged to operations in the year incurred

The Company evaluates whether events and cir

cumstances have occurred that indicate the remaining

estimated useful lives of property plant and equip

ment may warrant revision or that the remaining

balances may not be recoverable When factors indi

cate that such costs should be evaluated for possible

impairment the Company uses an estimate of the

undiscounted cash flows over the remaining lives of

the assets to evaluate whether the costs are recover

able In 2008 the Company recorded an asset impair

ment charge of $0.8 million on certain property and

equipment The Company believes that there was no

impairment at December 31 2009

Other Assets

Other assets at December 31 2009 of $1.0 mil

lion primarily included long term receivables Other

assets at December 31 2008 primarily included

$2.6 million of deferred tax assets and $4.9 million of

long-term investment that was liquidated in 2009

NOTE ACCOUNTING POLICIES

10-40 years

3-15 years
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED Financial Statements continued

Other Long-Term Liabilities

Other long-term liabilities include environmen

tal reserves

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company periodically enters into derivative

financial instruments in the form of forward

exchange contracts to reduce the effect of fluctua

tions in exchange rates on certain short-term inter

company transactions as well as certain third-party

sales transactions denominated in non-functional

currencies Based on the accounting guidance

related to derivatives and hedging activities the

Company records derivative financial instruments at

fair value For derivative financial instruments des

ignated and qualifying as cash flow hedges the

effective portion of the gain or loss on these hedges

is reported as component of accumulated other

comprehensive income and is reclassified into earn

ings when the hedged transaction affects earnings

As of December 31 2009 the Companys outstand

ing forward exchange contracts were not material

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of financial instruments

included in current assets and current liabilities

approximate fair value due to the short-term nature

of these instruments

Foreign Currency Translation

Assets and liabilities of the Companys interna

tional subsidiaries are translated from the local func

tional
currency into U.S dollars at the exchange rate

in effect at year-end Income statement accounts are

translated at the weighted-average rate of exchange

in effect during the year The resulting cumulative

translation adjustment is recorded as separate

component of accumulated other comprehensive

income Changes in exchange rates applicable to

non-functional currency assets and liabilities are

recorded as component of exchange gains and

losses as component of selling general and admin

istrative expenses Net exchange gains recorded in

2009 2008 and 2007 equaled $0.7 million $0.4 mil

lion and $0.2 million respectively

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company measures the cost of employee

services received in exchange for an award of equity

instruments based on the grant-date fair value of the

award The cost is recognized over the period during

which an employee is required to provide service in

exchange for the award The Companys stock-based

compensation plans are discussed further in Note

Revenue Recognition

Sales are recognized in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles including the Securities

and Exchange Commissions Staff Accounting Bulle

tin No 104 Revenue Recognition which requires

that revenue is recognized when there is evidence of

sales agreement the delivery of the goods has

occurred the sales price is fixed or determinable and

the collectibility of the revenue is reasonably assured

Sales are recorded upon shipment of product to

customers and transfer of title under standard com
mercial terms Allowances are recorded for uncollect

ible accounts receivable based upon the
age

of the

outstanding balance and the credit standing of the

related customer The Company charges off accounts

receivable when it becomes probable that amounts will

not be collected

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income primarily consists of net

income pension and other postretirement benefit

adjustments and cumulative foreign currency trans

lation adjustments

Legal Costs and Contingencies

Estimated legal costs expected to be incurred

in connection with claims lawsuits and environmen

tal matters are accrued in the consolidated financial

statements The costs accrued at December 31
2009 and 2008 were not material

The Company assesses the need to record con

tingent liabilities on case-by-case basis Reserves

are recorded when the Company in consultation

with counsel determines that loss related to

matter is both probable and reasonably estimable If

no accrual for loss contingency has been recorded

but there is at least reasonable possibility that

loss or an additional loss may have occurred the

Company discloses when material the nature of

the contingency and provides an estimate of the

possible loss or range of loss or states that such an

estimate cannot be made As of December 31 2009

and 2008 there were no material reserves for

litigation and contingencies recorded
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED Financial Statements contiiued

At December 31 2009 the Company had

approximately $8.5 million of working capital invested

on behalf of an international wind energy customer

including past due accounts receivable in addition to

inventory and purchase commitments made or

incurred on the customers behalf and designed to its

agreed upon specifications The customer has not paid

the Company because it alleges that certain field

performance issues of the customers product are

attributable to the quality of the Companys bearings

The Company is confident that its bearings were

made to the agreed upon design specifications and

that the customers field performance issues relate to

factors outside of the Companys control Under the

documents which comprise the sales contract the

customer is obligated to pay its liability and to

reimburse the Company for inventory costs incurred

and lost profits In order to expedite the resolution of

this matter the Company has agreed with the cus

tomer to enter mediation process and if necessary

binding arbitration As the Company is confident in

the quality of its supplied product and the customers

financial ability to pay the Company has concluded

that the receivables and inventory are fully realizable

and the purchase commitments are fully recoverable

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred and

totaled $2.8 million $3.6 million and $3.4 million

in 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

On July 2009 the Company adopted the

Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB
Accounting Standards Codification ASC The

ASC is the single official source of nongovernmen

tal generally accepted accounting principles The

adoption of the ASC did not have any impact on the

financial statements of the Company

On January 2009 the Company adopted as

required new FASB guidance related to the Compa

nys previously outstanding 4% Contingent Convert

ible Senior Subordinated Notes which required the

Company to separately account for the liability and

equity components of that debt instrument in man

ner that reflected the nonconvertible borrowing rate

This resulted in the bifurcation of component of the

debt classification of that component in equity and

the accretion of the resulting discount as part of

interest expense The effective interest rate on the

liability component was determined to be 8.5 percent

The adoption of this guidance resulted in an increase

in interest expense of $3.1 million and $7.7 million for

2008 and 2007 respectively decrease in provision

for income taxes of $1.1 million and $2.8 million for

2008 and 2007 respectively decrease in net income

of $2.0 million and $4.9 million for 2008 and 2007

respectively and decrease in basic earnings per

share of $0.07 and $0.18 for 2008 and 2007 respec

tively The adoption of this guidance resulted in an

increase in paid-in capital of $14.6 million and

corresponding decrease in retained earnings of

$14.6 million at December 31 2006 These adjust

ments were non-cash and had no effect on diluted

earnings per share This guidance was applied retro

spectively to all periods presented as required

Also on January 2009 the Company adopted

as required new FASB guidance related to certain of

the Companys equity incentive awards The applica

tion of this guidance to these awards which partici

pate in dividends changed the calculation of basic

earnings per
share and diluted earnings per share

under the two-class method of calculating earnings

per
share The adoption of this guidance resulted in

decrease in basic earnings per
share of $0.03 and

$0.04 for 2008 and 2007 respectively and had

resulted in decrease in diluted earnings per share

of $0.03 and $0.02 for 2008 and 2007 respectively

This guidance was applied retrospectively to all peri

ods presented as required

Reclassifications

Certain items in the prior year financial state

ments have been reclassified to conform to the

presentation used in 2009

Subsequent events

For the year ended December 31 2009 the

Company has evaluated subsequent events for

potential recognition and disclosure through Febru

ary 26 2010 the date the financial statements

were issued No significant subsequent events have

occurred through this date that have not been

adjusted in the financial statements or disclosures

as required
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NOTE EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table reconciles the numerators

and denominators used in the calculations of basic

During 2009 2008 and 2007 certain options

granted to purchase shares of common stock were

excluded from the computation of diluted earnings

per share because the options exercise prices were

greater than the average market price of the com

mon shares Options to purchase 406500 46500
and 15000 shares at an average price of $43.29

$51.35 and $53.38 per share were excluded during

2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

On August 21 2008 the Company announced

that it was exercising its right to redeem all of the

remaining outstanding 4% Contingent Convertible

Senior Subordinated Notes due 2023 the Notes
On September 19 2008 the Company announced

that it had completed its redemption of the Notes as

the holders of all of the outstanding Notes exercised

their rights to convert their Notes into shares of

Company common stock at conversion price of

$29.16 per share The Company issued total of

6858683 shares of Company common stock from

treasury stock in 2008 in satisfaction of the conver

sions The Notes are included in the calculation of

diluted earnings per share for 2008 on weighted

average basis for the periods that the Notes were

outstanding prior to conversion In 2007 the Notes

and diluted earnings per share for each of the last

three years

were convertible into total of 6858710 shares of

common stock and were included in the diluted

earnings per share calculation The Notes are dis

cussed further in Note

NOTE ACQUISITIONS

On October 26 2007 the Company acquired

all of the outstanding stock of Avon Bearings

Corporation Avon in cash transaction valued

at $54.4 million net of $0.5 million of working

capital adjustments recorded in 2008 Avon is

custom designer and manufacturer of high precision

large diameter turntable bearings Avon also

remanufactures bearings and sells replacement

bearings Goodwill and other intangible assets

acquired including purchase price adjustments of

$1.1 million recorded in 2008 aggregated $41.4 mil

lion Avon is included in the Friction Control Prod

ucts segment for segment reporting purposes

NOTE LONG-TERM DEBT

In May 2003 the Company issued $200.0 mil

lion of 4% Contingent Convertible Senior Subordi

nated Notes due 2023 the Notes The Notes

were convertible into shares of Company common

2009 2008 2007

Earnings per share Basic

Net income $45956000 $65063000 $72808000

Less Net earnings allocated to participating securities Basic 527000 935000 1072000

Income available to common shareholders Basic $45429000 $64128000 $71736000

Weighted average common shares outstanding Basic 33250000 29507000 27694000

Earnings per share Basic $1.37 $2.17 $2.59

Earnings per share Diluted

Net income $45956000 $65063000 $72808000

Less Net earnings allocated to participating securities Dilutive 527000 923000 1033000
Plus Interest and debt issuance costs amortization related to Contingent Convertible

Notes net of tax 5833000 10852000

Income available to common shareholders Diluted $45429000 $69973000 $82627000

Weighted average common shares outstanding Diluted

Weighed average common shares outstanding Basic 33250000 29507000 27694000
Potential dilutive shares resulting from stock options 17000 19000 40000

Dilutive shares resulting from Contingent Convertible Notes 4427000 6859000

Weighted average common shares outstanding Diluted 33267000 33953000 34593000

Earnings per share Diluted $1.37 $2.06 $2.39
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stock provided certain contingencies were met

During 2008 the Notes were converted into

6858683 shares of Company common stock which

were issued from treasury stock

Interest expense and amortization of note issu

ance costs on the Notes was recorded through the

applicable conversion dates of the Notes and equaled

$9.1 million for 2008 including $3.1 million of addi

tional interest expense and note issuance cost adjust

ments associated with the retrospective application of

new accounting guidance as more fully discussed in

Note The holders of the Notes forfeited their rights

to the interest upon the conversion of their Notes The

accrued interest liability at the date of the respective

Note conversions that totaled $2.3 million was reclas

sified to paid-in capital in accordance with applicable

financial accounting guidance regarding convertible

debt Interest expense
and amortization of note issu

ance costs on the Notes equaled $17.0 million in 2007

including $7.7 million of additional interest associated

with the retrospective application of new accounting

guidance as more fully discussed in Note Note

issuance costs of approximately $6.5 million were

amortized over five-year period ending in May 2008

The Company has senior credit facility with

syndicate of lenders providing for $300.0 million

senior unsecured revolving credit facility The credit

facility provides for borrowings and issuances of letters

of credit by the Company and its subsidiaries in various

currencies for general corporate purposes including

acquisitions The credit facility matures on July 12

2010 and is guaranteed by the Company and certain

of the Companys domestic subsidiaries Interest

accrues on borrowings under the credit facility based

on the London Interbank Offered Rate The credit

facility contains restrictive financial covenants on

consolidated basis including leverage and coverage

ratios utilizing measures of earnings and interest

expense as defined in the credit facility agreement The

Company is in compliance with all restrictive covenants

contained in the credit facility at December 31 2009

The Company has available credit under its credit

facility of $300.0 million at December 31 2009

NOTE STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Companys 1999 Long Term Stock Incen

tive Plan Incentive Plan provides for the issu

ance of 2000000 shares of Company common

stock plus an additional 2000000 shares resulting

from certain reacquisitions of shares by the Com

pany for stock-based incentives in various forms

The Companys 2003 Non-Employee Directors

Equity Plan Directors Plan provides for the

issuance of 300000 shares of Company common

stock in various forms to non-employee members of

the Companys Board of Directors The Company

has granted both restricted stock awards and stock

options pursuant to its equity incentive plans In

addition the Companys Director Deferred Compen

sation Plan Director Deferred Plan provides for

the issuance of Company common stock to non-

employee members of the Companys Board of

Directors who elect to defer all or portion of their

fees for services earned as member of the Board

of Directors into common stock account

summary of restricted stock award informa

tion for 2009 is as follows

Wtd Avg Grant

Restricted Date Fair Value

Stock per Share

Outstanding at

January 2009 391580 $38.33

Granted 99000 $26.43

Vested 139008 $35.91

Canceled 5602 $35.66

Outstanding at

December 31 2009 345970 $35.93

Pursuant to the Incentive Plan the Company

granted restricted stock awards for 93000 shares

90790 shares and 179980 shares of Company com

mon stock during 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

to key employees of the Company Pursuant to the

Directors Plan the Company granted restricted stock

awards for 6000 shares 6000 shares and

3000 shares of Company common stock during 2009

2008 and 2007 respectively to non-employee mem
bers of the Companys Board of Directors During

2008 741 shares of restricted stock were canceled

and 142485 shares of restricted stock vested During

2007 4419 shares of restricted stock were canceled

and 105812 shares of restricted stock vested The

weighted-average fair value per share of the restricted

stock awards granted on the date of grant was

$43.01 in 2008 and $44.02 in 2007

Grant-date fair value of restricted stock awards

equals the closing market price of Company com

mon stock on the date of grant The net value of
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unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested

restricted stock awards aggregated $7.7 million at

December 31 2009 and is expected to be amortized

over weighted-average period of 2.4 years The

net value of unrecognized compensation cost related

to unvested restricted stock awards aggregated

$9.4 million at December 31 2008 and $9.7 million

at December 31 2007 Compensation cost related

to restricted stock awards during 2009 2008 and

2007 was $4.1 million $4.5 million and $5.6 mil

lion respectively Restricted stock awards normally

vest annually but they also vest upon the occur

rence of certain events including the disability or

death of grantee while employed at the Company

or in certain circumstances change in control of

the Company under defined conditions The total

grant-date fair value of restricted stock that vested

during 2009 2008 and 2007 was $5.0 million

$4.7 million and $2.9 million respectively

Restricted stock awards granted pursuant to the

Companys equity incentive plans allow for continued

annual vesting if grantee retires at or after the

age
of 65 even though the grantee is no longer

providing services to the Company For awards made

prior to January 2006 compensation cost

summary of stock option information is as

follows

The exercise price of each option equals the

closing market price of Company common stock on

the date of grant Options granted become exercis

able at the rate of 10.0 percent 20.0 percent or

100.0 percent per year commencing one year after

associated with these restricted stock awards is being

amortized ratably over the awards normal five- to

ten-year vesting periods or up to the date of actual

retirement of the grantee when applicable Compen

sation cost related to grantees who become retire

ment eligible during the normal vesting period is

amortized ratably over the period from the grant

date to the date retirement eligibility is achieved

Compensation expense is recognized immediately for

awards granted to retirement eligible employees

Pursuant to the Director Deferred Plan the

Company has provided for 19429 shares

16515 shares and 12338 shares of Company com
mon stock known as phantom stock units as of

December 31 2009 2008 and 2007 respectively

which may be issued at some future date as elected

by the members of the Board of Directors partici

pating in this plan Annual compensation expense

related to providing for these phantom stock units

totaled $0.1 million in 2009 $0.2 million in 2008
and $0.1 million in 2007

Compensation expense related to outstanding

stock options totaled $1.3 million in 2009 $1.2 mil

lion in 2008 and $0.7 million in 2007

the date of grant and options expire ten years after

the date of grant The intrinsic value of options

exercised totaled less than $0.1 million in 2009

$0.3 million in 2008 and $0.1 million in 2007 The

intrinsic value of options outstanding as of

2009 2008 2007

Wtd.-Avg Wtd.-Avg Wtd.-Avg

Options Ex Price Options Ex Price Options Ex Price

Outstanding at Beginning of Year 443750 $41.87 346500 $40.64 75250 $28.35

Granted 120500 $26.70 107250 $44.22 275500 $43.73

Canceled 13500 $38.24

Exercised 1000 $24.25 10000 $24.29 4250 $23.32

Outstanding at End of Year 549750 $38.67 443750 $41.87 346500 $40.64

Exercisable at End of Year 190250 $41.10 92600 $37.36 33900 $26.56

Weighted-Avg Fair Value of Options Granted $7.66 $11.22 $12.87

Weighted-Avg Remaining Contractual Life years

Outstanding at End of Year 7.6 8.0 8.5

Exercisable at End of Year 6.8 6.9 5.0
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December 31 2009 equaled $1.5 million and the

intrinsic value of options exercisable as of Decem

ber 31 2009 equaled $0.4 million The fair value of

each option grant is estimated on the date of grant

using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with

the following weighted-average assumptions which

are updated to reflect current expectations of the

risk-free interest rate expected dividend yield

expected life and using historical volatility to

project expected volatility

2009 2008 2007

Risk-free interest rate 2.2% 3.1% 4.6%

Expected dividend
yield

2.6% 1.4% 1.1%

Expected life years years years

Expected volatility 36.2% 25.1% 23.7%

At December 31 2009 2486747 shares

remained available for grant under the Incentive

Plan and 147900 shares remained available for

grant under the Directors Plan The number of

shares available for grant under the Director

Deferred Plan is not limited in amount other than

by the dollar value of the Directors annual compen
sation The Companys practice is to purchase its

shares on the open market for issuance under its

various equity incentive plans

NOTE SHAREHOLDERS RIGHTS PLAN

On May 2000 the Board of Directors of the

Company adopted shareholders rights plan which

attached one right to each share of Company com

mon stock held by shareholders of record at the

close of business on June 12 2000 If the rights

become exercisable each registered holder will be

entitled to purchase from the Company additional

common stock having value of twice the exercise

price upon payment of the exercise price The rights

will become exercisable only if
person or group of

affiliated or associated persons has acquired or

obtained the right to acquire 15 percent or more of

the outstanding shares of Company common stock

Each right will entitle the shareholder to purchase

one one-thousandth of share of new series of

preferred stock at an exercise price of one hundred

dollars $100.00 per right The rights will expire

at the close of business on May 2010 unless

earlier redeemed by the Company

NOTE EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The Company sponsors several defined contri

bution plans for various employee groups Contribu

tions may be based on match on employee

deferrals or as percentage of each covered

employees salary in accordance with the provisions

of each plan and totaled $1.3 million $1.3 million

and $1.1 million in 2009 2008 and 2007

respectively

The Company maintains several defined benefit

pension plans which cover the majority of all

U.S employees Benefits paid under these plans are

based generally on employees years of service and

compensation during the final years of employment

The Company provides certain retiree health

care and life insurance benefits covering certain

U.S employees Certain employees are generally

eligible for benefits upon retirement or long-term

disability and completion of specified number of

years of credited service These benefits are subject

to cost-sharing provisions and other limitations The

Company does not pre-fund these benefits and has

the right to modify or terminate certain of these

benefits in the future The Company accrues for the

cost of providing postretirement benefits for medi

cal dental and life insurance
coverage over the

active service period of the employee

Included in the following table is non-qualified

supplemental pension plan covering certain active

and retired employees This non-qualified pension

plan provides for benefits in addition to those pro

vided by the qualified plans This non-qualified plan

has no plan assets The accumulated benefit obliga

tion for this plan was $8.4 million at both Decem

ber 31 2009 and December 31 2008
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Obligations and Funded Status

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

2009 2008 2009 2008

Change in Benefit Obligation

Benefit obligation beginning of period $112454000 99531000 $13257000 $l0419000

Service cost 3239000 3577000 295000 363000
Interest cost 6948000 7940000 630000 821000
Plan amendments 143000 2918000

Actuarial gain loss 3122000 8353000 2421000 2135000
Benefits paid 5884000 6947000 302000 481000

Liability change due to curtailment 3015000

Benefit obligation December31 120022000 112454000 10368000 13257000

Change in Plan Assets

Fair value of plan assets beginning of period 72247000 99377000

Actual return on plan assets 19687000 33024000

Company contributions 15512000 12841000 302000 481000

Plan participants contributions 322000 419000

Benefits paid 5884000 6947000 624000 900000

Fair value of plan assets December 31 101562000 72247000

Net asset liability December31 18460000 40207000 $10368000 $13257000

Amounts Recognized in the Consolidated

Balance Sheets Consist of

Employee benefits 671000 674000 595000 620000

Long-term postretirement and postemployment benefit obligations 17789000 39533000 9773000 $12637000
Accumulated other comprehensive income

Prior service cost credit net of tax 108000 56000 3440000 4738000

Net actuarial gain loss net of tax 27256000 37262000 1461000 4086000

At December 31 2009 three of the Companys

qualified defined benefit pension plans had shortfall

of plan assets compared to the accumulated benefit

obligation ABO with an aggregate ABO of

$48.5 million and plan assets of $46.7 million and

one qualified defined benefit pension plan had plan

assets of $54.8 million which exceeded the ABO of

$54.6 million At December 31 2008 all four of the

Companys qualified defined benefit pension plans had

an aggregate ABO of $94.4 million which exceeded

the plan assets of $72.2 million The change in

relative plan funding from 2008 to 2009 was due

principally to the actual return on plan assets and

Company contributions to the qualified plans in 2009

which more than offset the increased ABO
Pension Benefits

2009 2008 2007

Components of Net Periodic

Benefit Cost

Service cost $3239000 2861000 2770000
Interest cost 6948000 6352000 5838000

Expected return on plan assets 5648000 7770000 5461000
Amortization of

Unrecognized net
prior

service cost

Unrecognized net loss

Net periodic benefit cost

Postretirement Benefits

2009 2008 2007

Components of Net Periodic

Benefit Cost Income
Service cost 295000 291000 365000

Interest cost 630000 657000 802000

Amortization of

Unrecognized net prior

service credit 1078000 1718000 1759000

Unrecognized net
gain 555000 909000 486000

Curtailment gain 7613000

Net peiodic benefit cost

income 8321000 1679000 1078000

Net periodic benefit cost for the non-qualified

supplemental pension plan was $0.9 million

$0.7 million and $0.3 million in 2009 2008 and

2007 respectively

59000

5093000

9691000

26000

3000

1472000

33000

1020000

4200000

KAYDON CORPORATION lOOM ioi 39



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED Financial Statements continued

The factors related to the assumed annual rate

of increase in covered health care costs for

Assumed health care cost trend rates

In developing the discount rate assumption

used to determine the pension and postretirement

benefit obligations the Company uses the weighted

average
of market-observed yields for high quality

fixed income securities with maturities that corre

spond to the payment of benefits The equivalent

weighted-average discount rate is calculated by

imputing the interest rate that equates the total

present value with the stream of future cash flows

The rate of compensation increase used to

determine benefit obligations was developed using

determining the annual cost and the year end bene

fit obligation are as follows

For determining 2009 cost

Under age 65 Age 65 and over

an age-graded salary scale with weighted average

of 5.00 percent at December 31 2009 and Decem

ber 31 2008 An age-graded salary scale with

weighted average of 5.00 percent was used to

determine pension and postretirement benefit costs

in 2009 An average rate of compensation increase

of 4.00 percent was used to determine pension and

postretirement benefit costs in 2008

The December 31 2009 pension and postretire

ment benefit obligations were computed using the

RP-2000 Combined Healthy Mortality table with

For determining 2009 obligation

Under age 65 Age 65 and over

Annual rate of increase for next year 9.0% 10.0% 8.0% 8.5%

Ultimate rate to which the cost trend rate is to decline 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0%

Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2013 2013 2017 2017

Assumed health care cost trend rates may have change in the assumed health care cost trend rates

significant effect on the amounts reported for the would have the following effects

postretirement health care plans 1.0 percent

1-Percentage-Point 1-Percentage-Point

Increase Decrease

Effect on net service cost and interest cost 83000 71000
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation $885000 $775000

The Company made changes to its postretire- the amortization of unrecognized net loss of

ment benefit plans which resulted in curtailment $3.5 million related to the pension plans The

gains totaling $7.6 million for the
year ended amounts in accumulated other comprehensive

December 31 2009 These gains were recorded as income expected to be recognized as components of

reductions to selling general and administrative net periodic benefit cost in 2010 include the amorti

expenses zation of $1.2 million and $0.3 million of the prior

The amounts in accumulated other comprehen-
service credit and unrecognized net actuarial gain

sive income expected to be recognized as compo-
related to the other postretirement benefit plans

nents of net periodic benefit cost in 2010 include

Additional Information
Pension Postretirement

Benefits Benefits

2009 2008 2009 2008

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations

Discount rate qualified pension plans and postretirement benefit plans 5.93% 6.25% 5.47% 6.25%

Discount rate non-qualified pension plan 6.05% 6.25% N/A N/A

Rate of compensation increase 5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost

Discount rate qualified pension plans and postretirement benefit plans 6.25% 6.50% 6.23% 6.50%

Discount rate non-qualified pension plan 6.25% 6.25% N/A N/A

Expected long-term return on plan assets 8.00% 8.00% N/A N/A

Rate of compensation increase 5.00% 4.00% 5.00% 4.00%

40 KAYDON CORPORATION FORM 10K



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED Financial Statements continued

future mortality improvement projections to 2010

The December 31 2008 pension and postretirement

benefit obligations and the pension and postretire

ment net periodic benefit costs in 2009 and 2008

were computed using the RP-2000 Combined

Healthy Mortality table with future mortality

improvement projections to 2009

The Company determines the overall expected

long-term rate of retum for plan assets by evaluating

the historical and expected retums of the individual

asset classes comprising the total plan assets For

individual categories of equity securities historical

total and real rates of return are considered together

with inflation and overall market factors including

dividend yield earnings growth changes in price to

earnings ratios and volatility of retums For various

fixed income asset categories expected long-term

returns are determined after consideration of current

yields on fixed income securities inflation historical

yields relative to benchmarks and long-term default

rates For other asset classes including real estate

expected long-term returns are determined through

consideration of certain factors which may include

historical returns dividend yields inflation benchmark

returns and net asset values

Plan assets

The Company sponsors qualified defined bene

fit pension plans that provide benefits to participat

ing employees and retirees collectively the

Plans The assets of the Plans are invested with

an investment program objective to maintain level

of plan funding consistent with actuarial recommen

dations sufficient to fund future pension liabilities

achieve rate of return that matches or exceeds

the benchmark over full market cycle and mini

mize risk for the expected level of return

The overall investment performance objective for

each investment category is to exceed the total fund

policy benchmark index return over market cycle

For investments in domestic equities fixed income

investments and intemational equities actively man

aged investment returns are expected to exceed the

designated benchmark index returns over full mar
ket cycle and indexed investment returns are

expected to closely replicate the investment return of

the designated benchmark index To diversify invest

ments and to limit exposure to any one manager

investment style or security actively managed

domestic equity investments are allocated to invest

ment managers within each sector of the domestic

equity market large capitalization mid capitalization

and small capitalization stocks

Effective January 2010 the Company revised

the asset allocation policy to transition from the previ

ous allocation of 75 percent equities 20 percent fixed

income investments and percent real estate to an

asset allocation permitting an allocation of 60 percent

equities and 40 percent fixed income investments The

transition to this new allocation during 2010 will

provide more dynamic asset allocation approach

which reflects and incorporates plan liabilities to

reduce the volatility of plan expense and contributions

summary of target and actual allocations of

plan assets is as follows

Plan Assets at

December 31 December 31 December 31

2009 2009 2008

Target Actual Actual

Allocation Allocation Allocation

Asset Category

Domestic equity

large cap 35% 35% 30%

Demestic equity

mid cap 15% 14% 12%

Demestic equity

small cap 15% 13% 11%

International

equity 10% 9% 8%

Corefixedinceme 16% 19% 17%

Highyieldbonds 4% 4% 4%

Real estate 5% 5% 4%

Cash 1% 14%

Total 100% 100% 100%

At December 31 2009 plan assets were

invested in publicly traded common stocks publicly

traded mutual funds and cash and cash equivalent

balances All investments were in level of the fair

value hierarchy and valued using observable inputs

including quoted prices in active markets for identi

cal assets or liabilities

Total

Fair Value

Measurement at

December 31

2009

Domestic equity $62677000

International equity 9647000

Core fixed income 19344000

High yield bonds 4223000

Real estate 5052000

Cash 619000
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Cash Flows

The following are expected net benefit

payments

Year ending December 31

2010 6245000 610000

2011 6502000 664000

2012 6786000 689000

2013 7040000 759000

2014 7391000 894000

2015-2019 $42763000 $5625000

The Company has included in the postretire

ment benefits shown in the table above the esti

mated future Medicare Part direct subsidy

payments available under the Medicare Prescription

Drug Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003

The Company expects to make cash contribu

tions of approximately $2.9 million to its pension

plans in 2010 The Company reviews its funding

strategy on an ongoing basis The Company expects

to contribute approximately $0.6 million to its

postretirement benefit plans in 2010

liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year

in which the differences are expected to reverse

The components of income before income taxes

are as follows

2009 2008 2007

Domestic

Foreign

The provision for income taxes consisted of the

following

2009 2008 2007

Current

U.S Federal 9952000 $15725000 $13324000

State 963000 1863000 1206000

Foreign 2548000 7928000 6542000

13463000 25516000 21072000

Deferred

U.S Federal

State

Foreign

NOTE LEASE COMMITMENTS

Total minimum rentals payable under operating

leases that have initial or remaining noncancelable

lease terms in excess of one year as of December 31

2009 are as follows

Year ending December 31

2010 $2345000

2011 $1762000

2012 $1588000

2013 $1137000

2014 $1132000

Thereafter $3646000

Aggregate rental expense was $2.5 million

$2.3 million and $1.7 million in 2009 2008 and

2007 respectively

NOTE INCOME TAXES

The Company recognizes deferred tax assets and

liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of

events that have been included in the consolidated

financial statements or tax returns Under this

method deferred tax assets and liabilities are deter

mined based on the difference between the consoli

dated financial statement and tax basis of assets and

The following is reconciliation of the U.S fed

eral statutory income tax rate to the Companys

effective tax rate

2009 2008 2007

U.S federal statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

State taxes net of federal benefit 1.3 1.9 2.0

U.S federal tax benefit of domestic

production activities deduction 0.5 0.7 1.0
Differences in income taxes on foreign

earnings losses and remittances 0.5 1.1 0.4
Other net 0.5 0.5 0.5

Effective tax rate 35.8% 35.6% 35.1%

Accounting guidance prescribes recognition

threshold and measurement attribute for the finan

cial statement recognition and measurement of

tax position taken in tax return and also the

subsequent derecognition of tax position classifi

cation interest and penalties accounting in interim

periods and related disclosure

The Company has liabilities recorded for unrec

ognized tax benefits totaling $2.5 million as of

December 31 2009 all of which would affect the

effective tax rate It is the Companys policy to

include interest and penalties incurred due to

Pension

Benefits

Postretirement

Benefits

$60881000

10747000

$71628000

73542000 90517000

27466000 21586000

$101008000 $112103000

11198000

576000

435000

12209000

$25672000

9794000 16324000

930000 1155000

295000 744000

10429000 18223000

$35945000 $39295000
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underpayment or late payment of income taxes due to

taxing authority on net-of-tax basis as compo
nent of income tax expense The Company has

recorded $1.0 million in liabilities for tax related

interest and penalties on its consolidated balance

sheet as of December 31 2009 The Company does

not expect that the total amounts of unrecognized tax

The tax effect and type of significant tempo

rary differences by component which gave rise to

the net deferred tax asset liability as of

December 31 2009 and 2008 were as follows

Deferred tax assets

Postretirement and

postemployment benefit

obligations

Financial accruals and

reserves not currently

deductible

Inventory basis differences

Foreign operating loss

carryforwards

Federal tax credit

carryforwards

State tax credit

carryforwards

Other

Valuation allowance 737000

24177000 35200000

Deferred tax liabilities

Plant and equipment basis

differences 14263000 12059000

Intangibles 11775000 9493000
Other 303000

26038000 21855000

Net deferred tax asset

liability 1861000 13345000

The Company or one of its subsidiaries operates

and files income tax returns in the United States

various states and foreign jurisdictions Foreign

benefits will significantly change within the next

twelve months

The following is reconciliation of the total

amounts of unrecognized tax benefits for 2009

2008 and 2007

jurisdictions significant to the Company include Ger

many and the United Kingdom With limited excep

tions the Company is no longer subject to

U.S federal tax examinations for years before 2006

state examinations for years before 2004 German tax

examinations for years before 2006 or United King

dom tax examinations for years before 2007

The net deferred tax asset recorded as an other

current asset was $8.5 million and $10.8 million at

December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively The net

deferred tax asset recorded as an other liability was

2009 2008 2007

Unrecognized tax benefits at Beginning of Year $2581000 $2804000 $2563000

Increase in unrecognized tax benefits as result of

Tax positions taken in the current period 150000 388000

Tax positions taken in prior period 428000 49000

Decrease in unrecognized tax benefits as result of

Tax positions taken in prior period 167000 114000 27000
Settlements with taxing authorities 127000
Lapse of the applicable statute of limitations 101000 410000 169000

Unrecognized tax benefits at End of Year $2463000 $2581000 $2804000

2009 2008

701000

936000

24914000 35200000

The Company had available foreign net operat
11575000 21323000

ing loss carryforwards of $0.3 million $0.8 million

pre-tax and $0.1 million $0.4 million pre-tax at

4428000 4385000 December 31 2009 and 2008 respectively In addi

6853000 6480000 tion at December 31 2008 the Company had

federal tax credit carryforwards of $2.9 million of

276000 108000 which $2.8 million were realized at December 31

145 000 2904000
2009 The Company had available state tax credit

carryforwards of approximately $0.7 million at

December 31 2009 The valuation allowance gener

ally represents state tax credit carryforwards for

which utilization is uncertain because it is unlikely

that the credits will be utilized given certain pro

jected state tax liabilities state tax utilization limi

tations and limited carryforward periods Tax

benefits of foreign operating loss carryforwards

federal tax credit carryforwards and state tax

credit carryforwards are evaluated on an ongoing

basis including review of the historical and pro

jected future operating results the eligible carryfor

ward period and other circumstances
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$10.4 million at December 31 2009 and as an other

asset of $2.6 million at December 31 2008 Undis

tributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries were

$41.2 million at December 31 2009 The Company

has not provided for U.S income taxes on these

undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries as

these earnings are intended to be permanently rein

vested The amounts subject to U.S taxation upon

remittance of these earnings as dividends would be

partially offset by available foreign tax credits

NOTE 10 GOODWILL AND OTHER
INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The Company annually or more frequently if

events or changes in circumstances indicate need

tests the carrying amounts of goodwill and indefi

nite-lived intangible assets for impairment The

Company identifies impairment of goodwill by com

paring the fair value of each of its reporting units

with the reporting units carrying amount

During 2009 the Companys goodwill impair

ment testing revealed that the estimated fair values

of all of its reporting units exceeded their carrying

values which indicated no goodwill impairment

The Companys goodwill impairment testing

revealed that the excess of the estimated fair value

of each of the reporting units tested over their

carrying value expressed as percentage of the

carrying amount as of the July 31st annual testing

date ranged from approximately 22 percent to

approximately 475 percent

Friction

Control

Products

The accumulated impairment losses include

impairment losses of $1.9 million recorded in 2004

Certain trademarks are the Companys only

indefinite-lived intangible assets The Company

identifies impairment of these trademarks by com

paring their fair value to their carrying amounts

The fair values of the trademarks are calculated

based on estimates of discounted future cash flows

related to the net amount of royalty expenses

avoided due to the existence of the trademarks

During 2009 trademarks were tested for impair

ment with no impairment loss being realized

The Company acquired Avon Bearings Corpo
ration in 2007 valued at $54.4 million net of

$0.5 million of working capital adjustments

recorded in 2008 portion of the purchase price

was allocated to various intangible assets including

$9.5 million to customer relationships $3.3 million

to backlog and $0.2 million to trademarks The

Company recorded goodwill totaling $28.5 million

including purchase price adjustments of $1.1 million

recorded in 2008 The intangible assets are being

amortized over their respective useful lives The

goodwill is being reported as part of the Companys

Friction Control Products reporting segment and

will not be amortized but is subject to annual

impairment testing

The changes in the carrying amount of good

will for the years ended December 31 2009 and

2008 are as follows

and $16.8 million recorded in 2002 as result of

the Companys annual testing of goodwill

Velocity

Control

Products

Sealing

Products Other Total

Balance as of January 2008

Goodwill $59890000 $43200000 $186000 62346000 $165622000

Accumulated impairment losses 18700000 18700000

$59890000 $43200000 $186000 43646000 $146922000

Purchase price adjustment 1065000 1065000

Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes 5563000 5563000

Balance as of December 31 2008 $55392000 $43200000 $186000 43646000 $142424000

Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes 1467000 1467000

Balance as of December 31 2009

Goodwill $56859000 $43200000 $186000 62346000 $162591000

Accumulated impairment losses 18700000 18700000

Balance as of December 31 2009 $56859000 $43200000 $186000 43646000 $143891000
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Other intangible assets are summarized as follows

2009 2008

Gross Gross

Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated

Amortized Intangible Assets Amount Amortization Amount Amortization

Customer relationships and lists $28194000 $14672000 $28194000 $11761000

Patents and developed technology 6516000 3503000 6427000 3004000

Backlog 3300000 3219000 3300000 2519000

Distributor agreements 374000 199000 374000 162000

Product names 320000 163000 320000 130000

Trademarks 200000 200000 200000 97000

$38904000 $21956000 $38815000 $17673000

The intangible assets are being amortized at

accelerated rates or on straight-line basis which

ever is appropriate over their respective useful

lives The weighted-average original useful life for

customer relationships and lists is 13.6 years and

for patents and developed technology is 13.5 years

Backlog is being amortized over three years

Unamortized Intangible Assets

Trademarks $4604000 $4604000

Aggregate Intangible Assets Amortization Expense

For the year ended December 31 2008 $5464000

For the year ended December 31 2009 $4283000

Estimated Intangible Assets Amortization Expense

For the year ending December 31 2010 $3573000

For the year ending December 31 2011 $2265000

For the year ending December 31 2012 $1983000

For the year ending December 31 2013 $1716000

For the year ending December 31 2014 $1418000

NOTE 11 BUSINESS SEGMENT
INFORMATION

The Company operates through operating seg
ments for which separate financial information is

available and for which operating results are evalu

ated regularly by the Companys chief operating

decision maker in determining resource allocation

and assessing performance Certain of the operating

segments have similar economic characteristics as

well as other common attributes including nature

of the products and production processes distribu

tion patterns and classes of customers The Com
pany aggregates these operating segments for

reporting purposes Certain other operating seg
ments do not exhibit the common attributes

mentioned above and therefore information about

them is reported separately Still other operating

segments do not meet the quantitative thresholds

for separate disclosure and their information is

combined and disclosed as Other businesses

The Company has three reportable segments

and other operating segments engaged in the man
ufacture and sale of the following

Friction Control Products complex compo
nents used in alternative energy specialized robot

ics medical aerospace defense security electronic

material handling construction and other industrial

applications Products include anti-friction bearings

split roller bearings and specialty balls

Velocity Control Products complex compo
nents used in specialized robotics material han

dling machine tool medical amusement and other

industrial applications Products include industrial

shock absorbers safety shock absorbers velocity

controls gas springs and rotary dampers

Sealing Products complex and standard ring

and seal products used in demanding industrial

aerospace and defense applications Products

include engine rings sealing rings and shaft seals

Other businesses filter elements and liquid

and gas-phase air filtration systems metal alloys

machine tool components presses dies and benders

used in variety of industrial applications

The accounting policies of the operating seg
ments are the same as those described in Note

Segment performance is evaluated based on seg
ment operating income and segment assets

Items not allocated to segment operating

income include certain amortization and corporate

2009

Carrying

Amount

2008

Carrying

Amount
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administrative expenses and other amounts Corpo
rate assets consist of cash and cash equivalents

certain prepaid expenses other assets and fixed

assets The selling price for transfers between oper

ating segments and geographic areas is generally

based on cost plus mark-up Sales between report

ing segments are not material

Included in net sales were sales to one cus

tomer representing 19.2 percent and 12.5 percent

of total consolidated net sales in 2009 and 2008

respectively Certain sales to this customer were

included in the Friction Control Products segment

the Sealing Products segment and in our other

businesses No customer accounted for more than

10 percent of net sales in 2007

2009 2008 2007

Net sales

Friction Control Products $296420000 $325951000 $261652000

Velocity Control Products 46358000 69616000 63912000

Sealing Products 37832000 44985000 46687000

Other businesses 60535000 81822000 79131000

Total consolidated net sales $441145000 $522374000 $451382000

2009 2008 2007

Operating income

Friction Control Products $50314000 73856000 76956000

Velocity Control Products 6488000 18045000 16240000

Sealing Products 3875000 4974000 8721000

Other businesses 4661000 10457000 11141000

Total segment operating income 65338000 107332000 113058000

Items not allocated to segment operating income 6000000 1821000 1795000
Interest expense 247000 9363000 17211000
Interest income 537000 4860000 18051000

Income before income taxes $71628000 $101008000 $112103000

Items not allocated to segment operating which was recorded as reduction in selling gen
income in 2009 included curtailment gains totaling eral and administrative expenses The component

$7.6 million related to certain changes in the of the segment that was sold was not material to

Companys postretirement benefit plans Operating the Company and represented less than one percent

income of the Friction Control Products reporting of the Companys net sales and operating income

segment in 2007 included $5.0 million pre-tax for 2007 and less than one percent of total assets

gain on the sale of component of the segment on the date of disposition

2009 2008 2007

Depreciation and amortization of intangible assets

Friction Control Products $17256000 $14727000 8245000

Velocity Control Products 2162000 1860000 1690000

Sealing Products 840000 868000 987000

Other businesses 3500000 3796000 3619000

Corporate 361000 394000 461000

Total consolidated depreciation and amortization of intangible assets $24119000 $21645000 $15002000

2009 2008 2007

Additions to property plant and equipment

Friction Control Products 9745000 $50005000 $46905000

Velocity Control Products 985000 7805000 2474000

Sealing Products 522000 763000 3193000

Other businesses 517000 1924000 1406000

Corporate 217000 207000 266000

Total consolidated additions to property plant and equipment $11986000 $60704000 $54244000
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2009 2008

Total assets

Friction Control Products $346266000 $353555000

Velocity Control Products 80549000 79890000

Sealing Products 22916000 25190000

Other businesses 81448000 85873000

Corporate 256765000 245274000

Total consolidated assets $787944000 $789782000

Geographic Information Amounts in 2008 and 2007 have been adjusted to

conform to this presentation Net sales and long-
The Company attributes net sales to different

lived tangible assets by geographic area are listed

geographic areas on the basis of the location of the

customer Long-lived tangible assets are shown
below Long-lived tangible assets primarily include

net property plant and equipment
based on the physical location of the assets

2009 2008 2007

Net Sales

United States $300126000 $334191000 $308284000

Germany 32213000 51313000 42007000

Other Countries 108806000 136870000 101091000

Total $441145000 $522374000 $451382000

Long-lived Tangible Assets

United States 86540000 $94444000 $90543000

Mexico 73029000 75461000 45319000

Other Countries 16160000 15752000 10439000

Total $175729000 $185657000 $146301000

NOTE 12 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Company adopted fair value measurement

guidance on January 2008 which among other

things requires enhanced disclosures about assets

and liabilities measured at fair value In 2008 the

adoption was limited to financial assets and liabili

ties and on January 2009 was extended to

certain other nonfinancial assets and liabilities

including the Companys pension assets as more

fully described in Note In 2009 the Company

liquidated its remaining position of long-term

investment which had been measured at fair value

The Company has no material nonfinancial assets

or liabilities recorded at fair value at December 31

2009
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NOTE 13 UNAUDITED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter

ended ended ended ended

April March 29 July June 28 October September 27 December 31 December 31

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

In thousands except per share data

Income Statement Data

Net sales $110335 $123284 $98318 $139905 $123637 $126803 $108855 $132382

Gross profit 35778 47319 32352 54171 38047 44533 37688 46157

Net income2 10124 15319 8359 19632 16067 16335 11406 13777

Per Share Data

Earnings per share

basic23 0.30 0.55 0.25 0.71 0.48 0.54 0.34 0.40

Earnings per share

diluted 0.30 0.52 0.25 0.63 0.48 0.50 0.34 0.40

Dividends declared per

share 0.17 0.15 0.17 0.15 0.18 0.17 0.18 0.17

The net income and basic earnings per share include after tax gains related to the curtailment of certain postretirement benefits

These after tax gains equaled $0.6 million $3.5 million and $0.8 million for second quarter 2009 third quarter 2009 and fourth

quarter 2009 respectively The basic earnings per share effect equaled $0.02 per share $0.10 per share and $0.03 per share for

the second quarter 2009 third quarter 2009 and fourth quarter 2009 respectively

The 2008 quarterly net income and basic earnings per share include the effect of the retrospective application of accounting guid
ance adopted as required on January 2009 This guidance as more fully described in Note related to the Companys former

4% Contingent Senior Subordinated Notes The application of this guidance reduced previously reported net income by $1.3 million

and $0.7 million for the first quarter and second quarter of 2008 respectively The application of this guidance also reduced previ

ously reported basic earnings per share by $0.05 and $0.03 for the first quarter and second quarter of 2008 respectively and had
no effect on diluted earnings per share

The 2008 quarterly basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per share also include the effect of the retrospective application

of accounting guidance adopted as required on January 2009 related to certain of the Companys equity incentive awards as

more fully described in Note The application of this guidance reduced previously reported basic earnings per share by $0.01 per

share in each of the first second third and fourth quarters of 2008 The application of this guidance also reduced previously

reported diluted earnings per share by $0.01 per share in each of the first second and fourth quarters of 2008 The application of

this guidance did not change previously reported third quarter 2008 diluted earnings per share
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ITEM CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS
WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND

FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None

ITEM 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Kaydons management is responsible for estab

lishing and maintaining effective disclosure controls

and procedures as defined under Rule 13a-15 of

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 As of the end

of the period covered by this report the Company

performed an evaluation under the supervision and

with the participation of the Companys manage

ment including its Chief Executive Officer and

Chief Financial Officer of the effectiveness of the

Companys disclosure controls and procedures

Based upon and as of the date of that evaluation

the Companys Chief Executive Officer and Chief

Financial Officer concluded that the Companys dis

closure controls and procedures were effective to

ensure that information required to be disclosed by

the Company in the reports that it files or submits

to the Securities and Exchange Commission under

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded

processed summarized and reported within the time

periods specified in the Commissions rules and

forms and that such information is accumulated

and communicated to the Companys management

including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief

Financial Officer as appropriate to allow timely

decisions regarding required disclosure No changes

were made to the Companys internal control over

financial reporting as defined in Rule 13a-15f
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during

the last fiscal quarter that materially affected or

are reasonably likely to materially affect the Com

panys internal control over financial reporting

Managements report on internal control over

financial reporting and Ernst Young LLPs

report on the Companys internal control over finan

cial reporting are included in Item of this Report

and incorporated herein by reference

ITEM 9B OTHER INFORMATION

None

PART III

ITEM 10 DIRECTORS EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information regarding executive officers

required by Item 10 is set forth as Supplementary

Item at the end of Part hereof pursuant to

Instruction to Item 401b of Regulation S-K
Other information required by this Item is included

in the Proxy Statement for the 2010 Annual Meet

ing of Shareholders of the Company which will be

filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission

on or about April 2010 and is incorporated herein

by reference

ITEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by Item 11 is

included in the Proxy Statement for the 2010

Annual Meeting of Shareholders of the Company

which will be filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on or about April 2010

and is incorporated herein by reference

ITEM 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN

BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by Item 12 is

included in the Proxy Statement for the 2010

Annual Meeting of Shareholders of the Company
which will be filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on or about April 2010

and is incorporated herein by reference The Com

pany also incorporates herein by reference the

Equity Compensation Plan Information contained in

Item of this Report

ITEM 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND

RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR

INDEPENDENCE

The information required by Item 13 is

included in the Proxy Statement for the 2010

Annual Meeting of Shareholders of the Company
which will be filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on or about April 2010

and is incorporated herein by reference

ITEM L4 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND
SERVICES

The information required by Item 14 is

included in the Proxy Statement for the 2010

Annual Meeting of Shareholders of the Company

which will be filed with the Securities and

Exchange Commission on or about April 2010

and is incorporated herein by reference
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PART IV

ITEM 15 EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STA TEMENT SCHEDULES

Financial Statements

The following Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company are included in Item Financial

Statements and Supplementary Data

Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31 2009 and 2008

Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders Equity for the years ended December 31 2009 2008

and 2007

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Internal Control

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Financial Statements

Financial Statement Schedules

The following Financial Statement Schedule of the Company is filed with this Report

II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts for the years ended December 31 2009 2008 and 2007

Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed as part of this Report Those exhibits with an asterisk

designate the Companys management contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements required

to be filed herewith

Certain of the following exhibits have been previously filed with the Securities and Exchange

Commission by the Company pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933 and the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Such exhibits are identified by the parenthetical references

following the listing of each such exhibit and are incorporated herein by reference The Companys

Commission file number is 1-11333

Exhibit

Number Description of Document

3.1 Second Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Companys Annual Report on

Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2003 and incorporated herein by reference

3.2 Amended and Restated By-Laws of Kaydon Corporation previously filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Companys Current Report on

Form 8-K filed May 26 2009 and incorporated herein by reference

4.1 Rights Agreement dated as of May 2000 between the Company and Continental Stock Transfer Trust Company as Rights

Agent previously filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Companys Current Report on Form S-K filed May 24 2000 and incorporated herein

by reference

4.2 Notice Letter dated June 23 2000 from the Company to Continental Stock Transfer Trust Company regarding the change of the

Rights Agent under the Companys Rights Agreement dated as of May 2000 previously filed as Exhibit 4.3 to Amendment

No to the Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December31 2000 and incorporated herein by reference

10.1 Kaydon Corporation Employee Stock Ownership and Thrift Plan as amended and restated February 19 2002 previously filed as

Exhibit 4.4 to the Companys S-S Registration Statement filed October 2004 and incorporated herein by reference

10.1.1 Fifth Amendment to the Kaydon Corporation Employee Stock Ownership and Thrift Plan dated November 2004 previously

filed as Exhibit 10.1.1 to the Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2004 and incorporated

herein by reference

10.1.2 Sixth Amendment to the Kaydon Corporation Employee Stock Ownership and Thrift Plan dated December 21 2005 previously

filed as Exhibit 10.1.2 to the Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2005 and incorporated

herein by reference

10.1.3 Seventh Amendment to the Kaydon Corporation Employee Stock Ownership and Thrift Plan datsd December 21 2006

previously filed as Exhibit 10.1.3 to the Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2006

and incorporated herein by reference
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Number Description of Document

10.1.4 Eighth Amendment to the Kaydon Corporation Employee Stock Ownership and Thrift Plan dated Jnne 52007 previously filed as

Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Quarterly Eeport on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30 2007 and incorporated herein by

reference

10.1.5 Ninth Amendment to the Kaydon Corporation Employee Stock Ownership and Thrift Plan effective January 2007 previously

filed as Exhibit 10.1.5 to the Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2008 and incorporated

herein by reference

10.1.6 Tenth Amendment to the Kaydon Corporation Employee Stock Ownership and Thrift Plan dated November 18 2008 previously

filed as Exhibit 10.1.6 to the Companys Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2008 and incorporated

herein by reference

10.1.7 Eleventh Amendment to the Kaydon Corporation Employee Stock Ownership and Thrift Plan effective March 29 2009

previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 2009 and

incorporated herein by reference

10.1.8 Twelfth Amendment to the Kaydon Corporation Employee Stock Ownership and Thrift Plan effective September 14 2009

previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended October 2009 and

incorporated herein by reference

10.1.9 Thirteenth Amendment to the Kaydon Corporation Employee Stock Ownership and Thrift Plan dated December 22 2009

10.2 Amended and Restated Executive Management Bonus Program previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Current

Report on Form 8-K filed May 26 2009 and incorporated herein by reference

10.3 Kaydon Corporation Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan as amended and restated previously filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the

Companys Current Report on Form S-K filed October 28 2008 and incorporated herein by reference

10.3.1 First Amendment of the Kaydon Corporation Supplemental Executive Retirement Trust previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the

Companys Current Report on Form S-K filed October 28 2008 and incorporated herein by reference

10.4 Kaydon Corporation 1999 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan amended and restated effective October 23 2008 previously filed as

Exhibit 10.6 to the Companys Current Report on Form S-K filed October 28 2008 and incorporated herein by reference

10.4.1 Forms of restricted stock agreement other than for CEO to be entered into by the Company and award recipients under the

Kaydon Corporation 1999 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan previously filed as Exhibit 10.10 to the Companys Current Report on

Form S-K filed October 28 2008 and incorporated herein by reference

10.4.2 Form of non-qualified stock option agreement to be entered into by the Company and award recipients under the Kaydon

Corporation 1999 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan previously filed as Exhibit 10.11 to the Companys Current Report on

Form S-K filed October 28 2008 and incorporated herein by reference

10.4.3 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for Kaydon Corporation 1999 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan for James OLeary

previously filed as Exhibit 10.12 to the Companys Current Report on Form S-K filed October 28 2008 and incorporated

herein by reference

10.4.4 Form of Phantom Share Award Agreement for Kaydon Corporation 1999 Long Term Stock Incentive Plan previously filed as

Exhibit 10.13 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 28 2008 and incorporated herein by reference

10.5 Kaydon Corporation Director Deferred Compensation Plan amended and restated effective October 25 2008 previously filed as

Exhibit 10.4 to the Companys Current Report on Form S-K filed October 28 2008 and incorporated herein by reference

10.6 Form of Letter Agreement for Change in Control Compensation Agreements incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the

Companys Current Report on Form S-K filed May 12 2008 and incorporated herein by reference

10.7 Amended and Restated Change in Control Compensation Agreement dated October 23 2008 between the Company and John

Emling previously filed as Exhibit 10.5.5 to the Companys Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 27
2008 and incorporated herein by reference

10.S Amended and Restated Change in Control Compensation Agreement dated October 23 2008 between the Company and Peter

DeChants previously filed as Exhibit 10.5.4 to the Companys Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September

27 2008 and incorporated herein by reference

10.9 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of July 12 2005 among the Company the subsidiary borrowers from time to

time party thereto the alternate currency borrowers from time to time party thereto JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A as

Administrative Agent Wachovia Bank National Association as Syndication Agent and Bank of America N.A Comerica

Bank and SunTrust Bank as Documentation Agents J.P Morgan Securities Inc as Joint Load Arranger and Sole Book Runner

and Wachovia Capital Markets LLC as Joint Lead Arranger previously filed as Exhibit 10 to the Companys Current Report on

Form S-K filed July 15 2005 and incorporated herein by reference

10.10 Kaydon Corporation 2003 Non-Employee Directors Equity Plan amended and restated effective October 23 2008 previously

filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the Companys Current Report on Form S-K filed October 28 2008 and incorporated herein by reference

10.11 Form of 2003 Non-Employee Directors Equity Plan Restricted Stock Agreement previously filed as Exhibit 10.8 to the

Companys Current Report on Form S-K filed October 28 2008 and incorporated herein by reference

10.11.1 Form of 2003 Non-Employee Directors Equity Plan Nonstatutory Stock Option Agreement previously filed as Exhibit 10.9 to the

Companys Current Report on Form S-K filed October 28 2008 and incorporated herein by reference

10.11.2 Kaydon Corporation Non-Employee Directors Compensation previously filed as Exhibit 10.14 to the Companys Annual Report

on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2005 and incorporated herein by reference

10.12 Kaydon Corporation Executive Medical Reimbursement Insurance Plan previously filed as Exhibit 10.18 to the Companys

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31 2004 and incorporated herein by reference
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10.13 Employment Agreement entered into March 23 2007 effective March 26 2007 as amended February 14 2008 and October 23

2008 by and between Kaydon Corporation and James OLeary previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Current Report

on Form 8-K filed October 28 2008 and incorporated herein by reference

10.14 Form of Letter Agreement relating to Employment Agreement with James OLeary previously filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the

Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed May 12 2008 and incorporated herein by reference

10.15 Amended and Restated Change in Control Cothpensation Agreement dated October 23 2008 between the Company and Debra

Crane previously filed as Exhibit 10.5.2 to the Companys Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 27

2008 and incorporated herein by reference

10.16 Amended and Restated Change in Control Compensation Agreement dated October 23 2008 between the Company and Anthony

Behrman previously filed as Exhibit 10.5.1 to the Companys Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q forthe quarter ended September

27 2008 and incorporated herein by reference

10.17 Employment Continuation Consulting and Non-Compete Agreement between Kaydon Corporation and Kenneth Crawford

dated January 27 2009 previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed January 29 2009

and incorporated by reference

10.18 Change in Control Compensation Agreement between the Company and Donald Buzinkai dated June 11 2009 previously filed

as Exhibit 10.1 to the Companys Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 15 2009 and incorporated herein by reference

21 Subsidiaries of the Company

23 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

31.1 Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350 as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the

Registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

KAYDON CORPORATION

By Is JAMES OLEARY

James OLeary

Chairman President and Chief Executive Officer

Principal Executive Officer

By Is PETER DECHANTS

Peter DeChants

Senior Vice President Chief Financial Officer

Principal Financial Officer

By Is DONALD BUZINKAI

Donald Buzinkai

Vice President ChiefAccounting Officer

Principal Accounting Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this Report has been signed

below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

THOMAS SULLIVAN

Thomas Sullivan

Director

Date February 26 2010

Date February 26 2010

Date February 26 2010

Is MARK ALEXANDER

Mark Alexander

Director

/s DAVID BRANDON

David Brandon

Director

Is PATRICK COYNE

Patrick Coyne

Director

Is WILLIAM GERBER

William Gerber

Director

/s TIMOTHY ODONOVAN

Timothy ODonovan

Director

/s JAMES OLEARY

James OLeary
Chairman

Date February 26 2010

Date February 26 2010

Date February 26 2010

Date February 26 2010

Date February 26 2010

Date February 26 2010

Date February 26 2010/s
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SCHEDULE II VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEARS ENDED
DECEMBER 31 2009 2008 AND 2007

Description
Deductions

Allowance for doubtful accounts deducted from

accounts receivable in the balance sheet

2009 991000 $629000 $437000 $1183000

2008 826000 $413000 $248000 991000

2007 $1029000 $50000 $153000 826000

Deductions representing uncollectible accounts written off less recoveries of accounts receivable written off in prior years and

reclassifications

Description

Inventory reserve account deducted from

inventories in the balance sheet

2009 $17236000 394000 $933000 $15909000

2008 $13671000 $4141000 576000 $17236000

2007 $13561000 595000 $485000 $13671000

Deductions representing disposal of physical inventories previously reserved and reclassifications

Balance at Charged to Costs Balance at

Description Beginning of Period and Expenses Deductions End of Period

Deferred tax assets valuation allowance

2009 $737000 $737000

Charges to Costs and Expenses representing state tax credit and federal state tax credit carryforwards established in 2009 No

deductions were recorded in 2009

Balance at Charged to Costs

Beginning of Period and Expenses

Balance at

End of Period

Balance at

Beginning of Period

Charged to Costs

and Expenses Deductions

Balance at

End of Period
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orate Information

Forward-looking Statements

This Annual Report contains forward-

looking statements within the meaning of the

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 regarding the

Companys plans expectations estimates and

beliefs Forward-looking statements are typi

cally identified by words such as believes

anticipates estimates expects

intends will may should could

potential projects approximately and

other similar expressions including state

ments regarding pending litigation general

economic conditions competitive dynamics

and the adequacy of capital resources These

forward-looking statements may include

among other things projections of the

Companys financial performance anticipated

growth and expansion characterization of

and the Companys ability to control contin

gent liabilities and anticipated trends in the

Companys businesses These statements are

only predictions based on the Companys

current expectation about future events

Although the Company believes the expecta

tions reflected in the forward-looking state

ments are reasonable it cannot guarantee

future results performance or achievements

or that predictions or current expectations

will be accurate These forward-looking state

ments involve risks and uncertainties that

could cause the Companys actual results

performance or achievements to differ materi

ally from those expressed or implied by the

forward-looking statements Kaydon does

not undertake any responsibility to update its

forward-looking statements or risk factors to

reflect future events or circumstances except

to the extent required by applicable law

Kaydon Corporation

315 East Eisenhower Parkway Suite 300

Ann Arbor Michigan 48108-3330

Telephone 734.747.7025

Fax 734.747.6565

Website www.kaydon.com
The Company has approximately 2084 Team

Members

Annual Meeting of Shareholders

The Annual Meeting of Shareholders will be

held on May 19 2010 at 1100 am at

Kaydon Corporation Third Floor

315 East Eisenhower Parkway
Ann Arbor Michigan 48108-3330

10-K Annual Report
The Kaydon Corporation Form 10-K Annual

Report and all other Company filings with

the Securities and Exchange Commission are

accessible at no charge on the Companys
website at www.Kaydon.com as soon as

reasonably practicable after filing with the

Commission

Common Stock Data

Kaydon Corporations common stock is listed

and traded on the New York Stock Exchange

NYSE with the symbol KDN As of

December 31 2009 there were 629 holders of

record of the Companys common stock

Independent Auditors

Ernst Young LLP

Suite 1000 777 Woodward Avenue

Detroit Michigan 48226-3529

Transfer Agent and Registrar

Shareholders may address inquiries to

BNY Mellon Shareowner Services

480 Washington Boulevard

Jersey City New Jersey 07310-1900

Telephone 866.229.9114

E-mail address shrrelations@bnymellon corn

This entire Annual Report is

printed on FSC paper manu
factured with electricity in

the form of renewable energy

wind hydro and biogas and includes

minimum of 60% wind credit content and 30%

post consumer recovered fiber

is registered trademark of

Kaydon Corporation

Mixed Sources

FSC

MOHAWK
manufactuedwjth widpower
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